METSÄNTUTKIMUSLAITOKSEN TIEDONANTOJA 917, 2004 FINNISH FOREST RESEARCH INSTITUTE, RESEARCH PAPERS 917, 2004

Wood ash use in coniferous forests

a soil microbiological study into the potential risk of cadmium release

Jonna Perkiömäki

Academic dissertation in Microbiology Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in Auditorium 1041 at Viikki Biocenter (Viikinkaari 5 - Building 2, Helsinki) on April 21th, 2004, at 14 o'clock noon.

VANTAAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS – VANTAA RESEARCH CENTRE

Perkiömäki, Jonna. 2004. Wood ash use in coniferous forests: a soil microbiological study into the potential risk of cadmium release. Finnish Forest Research Institute. Research papers 917. 54 p. + 7 original papers.

- Supervisor: Docent Hannu Fritze Finnish Forest Research Institute Vantaa Research Centre
- Reviewers: Docent Laura Höijer Maj and Tor Nessling Foundation Helsinki, Finland

Docent Kirsten Jørgensen Finnish Environment Institute Helsinki, Finland

- Opponent: Docent Håkan Wallander Department of Ecology Division of Microbial Ecology University of Lund, Sweden
- Publisher: Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa Research Centre, P.O. Box 18, FI-01301 Vantaa, Finland. Accepted by Jari Hynynen, Research Director, March 2004.

Printed in Sävypaino, Espoo 2004

ISSN 0358-4283 ISBN 951-40-1912-1 ISBN 952-10-1818-6 (pdf)

Contents

ABSTRACT	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
I INTRODUCTION	9
I.I Wood ash production and quality	9
1.2 Wood ash effects in the coniferous forest ecosystem	П
I.2.1 Soil and water chemistry	П
I.2.2 Forest floor and ground vegetation	13
1.2.3 Trees	14
I.2.3.1 Growth	14
1.2.3.2 Foliar chemistry	15
1.2.3.3 Diseases	16
1.2.4 Decomposers	17
I.2.4.1 Microbes	17
1.2.4.2 Fauna	20
1.3 Wood ash harmful substances	22
1.4 Overall conclusion	24
2 AIMS OF THE THESIS	25
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
3.1 Experimental designs	26
3.2 Samplings	28
3.3 Methods	29
3.4 Data analyses	31
4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	32
4.1 Cd effects on forest soil microbes	32
4.2 Wood ash effects on forest soil microbes	33
4.3 Wood ash Cd effects on forest soil microbes	39
4.4 Wood ash Cd transference into food chains	42
4.5 Wood ash as a potential remediation agent for acidified and met	al
polluted forest soil	43
5 CONCLUSIONS	44
REFERENCES	45

ABSTRACT

Wood ash use in coniferous forests: a soil microbiological study into the potential risk of cadmium release

Wood ash fertilization could benefit the growth of forest vegetation and trees through increasing soil pH and mineral nutrient content. The use of wood ash in forestry has been questioned because the potential risk associated with its cadmium (Cd) content (1-30 mg kg⁻¹). In agriculture, wood ash is only allowed for use as fertilizer when its Cd content is below 3 mg kg⁻¹. This restriction has not been applied to forest soils and there is a lack of knowledge about the potential harmful effects of the Cd in wood ash on forest ecosystems. The main objective of this thesis was to test if the Cd in wood ash has the potential to affect the humus layer microflora of coniferous upland forests. This objective was tested both in laboratory and field experiments with ash and ash spiked with Cd (400 or 1000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ as CdO or CdCl₂). In one study the dissolution of ash was accelerated by irrigating it with simulated acid rain (SAR). The form of the ash (loose or hardened) and dosage (3, 5 or 9 t ha-1) also were investigated. In addition, the long-term (18-20 years) effects of wood ash on forest soil microbial community and decomposition rate (weight loss) of needle litter and thereby on tree growth were assessed. Also the potential of wood ash Cd to enter the human food chain were studied in the field. Finally, the potential use of wood ash as a remediation agent of heavy metal polluted soil was studied.

Wood ash increased humus layer pH and microbial activities (respiration or thymidine incorporation rates) and changed its microfloral community structure (Biolog[®], PLFA, 16S or 18S rDNA PCR-DGGE) in all short-term and long-term laboratory and field experiments. Spiking ash with Cd induced no further changes in the above-mentioned variables as ash alone. The Cd added with wood ash did not become bioavailable as detected with a bacterial biosensor *Bacillus subtilis* BR151(pTOO24). The form and level of Cd added in the ash had no further effect on the microbiological variables studied. Irrigation of ash with SAR did not increase the amount of bioavailable Cd, although the dissolution rate of the ash was increased.

The results showed that, irrespective of the forest site fertility, ash fertilization induced similar chemical and microbiological responses in the humus layer. The changes were related to the dose and form of ash applied. The higher fertilization rate had stronger effects and applying loose wood ash at the same fertilization rate as hardened wood ash induced comparatively more changes, due to faster dissolution. Wood ash fertilization increased the decomposition rate of needle litter 19-20 years but not 1-4 years after treatment. On the poorer forest site the enhancing effect of ash fertilization on needle mass loss and on Scots pine growth was more pronounced than on more fertile site.

The concentration of Cd in soil water and in *Vaccinium uliginosum* and *V. vitis-idaea* berries, and the amount of bioavailable Cd in the humus layer were not increased by the ash or Cd-spiked ash treatments in the 4 year field study. The only increase in Cd concentrations, significantly higher concentrations in the mushroom *Lactarius rufus* and a slight increase in the berries of *Empetrum nigrum* (first year only), were associated with the Cd-spiked ash treatment.

Humus layer that had been exposed to moderate amounts of continuous acid and metal (copper and nickel) deposition for nine growing seasons was used in a laboratory remediation experiment. Both acid and metal treatments changed the structure of the microbial community. Acid application decreased humus layer pH and base saturation and increased the amounts of both extractable and bioavailable Cu measured with a bacterial biosensor *Pseudomonas fluorescens* DF57-Cu15. Metal application increased the concentration of humus layer extractable Ni and changed the fungal community structure. When this humus was irrigated with water the above-mentioned treatment effects were still seen except for the acid and metal effects on microbial and fungal community structures. After treatment with wood ash, none of the acid or metal effects could be detected.

In conclusion, the Cd in wood ash did not become bioavailable and harmful to forest soil microbes or leach through the humus layer, even when treated with simulated acid rain. Neither did the concentration of Cd in the studied mushroom and berries increase with the unspiked "normal" wood ash treatment. It is thus safe to use wood ash as a vitality fertilizer in upland forests. Nevertheless it would be prudent not to fertilize the same sites with wood ash more than once during a tree stand generation. The effect of wood ash (3 t ha⁻¹) on upland forest soil microbes lasts for at least 20 years, and probably longer if higher doses and/or hardened ash are applied. In addition, wood ash can be used to remediate sites with acidified and metal polluted humus layers.

Keywords: biosensor, cadmium bioavailability, copper bioavailability, DGGE, *Empetrum nigrum*, hardened ash, *Lactarius rufus*, litter decomposition, loose ash, metal pollution, microbial activity, microbial community structure, PCR, *Pinus sylvestris*, PLFA, remediation, stem volume, thymidine incorporation, *Vaccinium uliginosum, Vaccinium vitis-idaea*

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Fritze H., Perkiömäki J., Saarela U., Katainen R., Tikka P., Yrjälä K., Karp M., Haimi J. and Romantschuk M. 2000. Effect of Cd-containing wood ash on the microflora of coniferous forest humus. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 32: 43-51.
- II Fritze H., Perkiömäki J., Petänen T., Pennanen T., Romantschuk M., Karp M. and Yrjälä K. 2001. A microcosmos study on the effects of Cdcontaining wood ash on the coniferous humus fungal community and the Cd bioavailability. Journal of Soils & Sediments 1: 146-150.
- III Perkiömäki J., Kiikkilä O., Moilanen M., Issakainen J., Tervahauta A. and Fritze H. 2003. Cadmium-containing wood ash in a pine forest: effects on humus microflora and cadmium concentrations in mushrooms, berries and needles. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33: 2443-2451.
- **IV** Perkiömäki J. and Fritze H. 2002. Short and long-term effects of wood ash on the boreal forest humus microbial community. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 34: 1343-1353.
- V Perkiömäki J., Levula T. and Fritze H. 2004. A reciprocal decomposition experiment of Scots pine needles 19 yr after wood ash fertilization. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 36: 731-734.
- VI Perkiömäki J. and Fritze H. 2003. Does simulated acid rain increase the leaching of cadmium from wood ash to toxic levels to coniferous forest humus microbes? FEMS Microbiology Ecology 44: 27-33.
- VII Perkiömäki J., Tom-Petersen A., Nybroe O. and Fritze H. 2003. Boreal forest microbial community after long-term field exposure to acid and metal pollution and its potential remediation by using wood ash. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 35: 1517-1526.

Jonna Perkiömäki performed part of the experimental work, and calculation and interpretation of the results for papers I and II. In the papers III, IV, V, VI and VII she performed most of the experimental work, and calculation and interpretation of the results. Andreas Tom-Petersen performed the measurements of bioavailable Cu in paper VII. Jonna Perkiömäki wrote the papers III, IV, V and VII, and she has participated in the preparation of the manuscripts of papers I and II. Jonna Perkiömäki wrote the paper VI together with her supervisor Hannu Fritze.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by Maj and Tor Nessling Foundation, Academy of Finland, Metsäteho Oy, Finnish Cultural Foundation (Kalle ja Dagmar Välimaan rahasto), The Finnish Society of Forest Science (Alli Salovaaran apuraha), the grant from the Rector of Helsinki University, and the Finnish Forest Research Institute, which are all acknowledged. Dr. Michael Starr revised the English of the thesis (except acknowledgements).

This work was carried out at the Vantaa Research Centre of the Finnish Forest Research Institute. I would like to thank D.Sc. Heikki Pajuoja, the head of Vantaa Research Centre and Professor Eero Paavilainen, the former head, and Professor Eino Mälkönen, the former head of "Soil Department", for providing me excellent working facilities.

I am grateful to the reviewers of this thesis Doc. Laura Höijer and Doc. Kirsten Jørgensen for their constructive comments to further improvement of this thesis.

I am extremely grateful to my supervisor Hannu Fritze whose support and advice I could always count on. I could not have completed this work without having such a good supervisor.

I wish warmly thank all my co-authors. Special thanks to Oili Kiikkilä for introducing me to the methodology of thymidine incorporation and helping me with the statistics, and Taina Pennanen for introducing me to the methodology of PLFA analysis.

The following persons gave valuable suggestions for the text: Aino Smolander, Tuula Aarnio, Oili Kiikkilä, Taina Pennanen and Salla Saijets, my sincere thanks to each of you.

I wish also warmly thank the following persons: Miia Collander, Anneli Rautiainen and Päivi Tikka for the help in the laboratory work, and Anne Siika and Sari Elomaa for drawing figures, and Hillevi Sinkko for taking care of the paperwork.

I want to thank the whole "soil department" for the friendly atmosphere and all the help.

I INTRODUCTION

1.1 Wood ash production and quality

Today about 15% of the primary energy production in Finland is from wood (Pingoud and Lehtilä 1997). Wood combustion produces ca. 250 000-300 000 t ash annually (Hytönen and Nurmi 1997). The aim of the Finnish government is that 25% of the primary energy production will be from wood and peat by the year 2005 (Hakkila and Fredriksson 1996). Thus, the amount of wood ash produced will increase in the future. The use of wood for energy production has a number of advantages over other sources - it is renewable, domestic and local, creates work and promotes silviculture (Hakkila and Fredriksson 1996). The most important justification for the use of wood bioenergy, however, is that it could significantly reduce the use of fossil fuels and their carbon dioxide emissions (Pingoud and Lehtilä 1997). The ash that is produced is often stored in waste dumps but could be recycled back to the forest ecosystem. Wood ash contains a considerable amount of mineral nutrients which could benefit the growth of forest ground vegetation and trees (Silfverberg 1996b). In order to preserve the vitality and productivity of soil the nutrients removed from a site by tree harvesting need to be returned and wood ash fertilization is one way to do this.

During combustion most of the inorganic nutrients and trace elements in wood are retained in the ash. Many factors affect the quality of wood ash, including: tree species, fraction of tree burnt, degree of processing of the tree before combustion, burning temperature and type of filters used in the incineration system, and proportion of bottom and fly ash in the end product. Hardwood ash contains significantly more phosphorus and potassium than softwood ash, which contains more calcium (Hakkila and Kalaja 1983). Bark ash has higher contents of calcium and unburnt charcoal and lower amounts of potassium, phosphorus and magnesium than stem wood ash (Hakkila 1986). The ashes of pulp and paper have lower amounts of nutrients than ashes from unprocessed wood (Demeyer et al. 2001). Residual charcoal in the ash reflects inefficient combustion which results in lower acid neutralization capacity when applied to the soil (Khanna et al. 1994). Fly ash has more charcoal, but less insoluble sand than bottom ash (Hakkila and Kalaja 1983). Dynamic separators recover 50-90%, and electric filters 90-99% of the fly ash (Hakkila and Kalaja 1983, Hakkila 1986) and the more effective the filtration of the combustion gases the higher is the proportion of heavy metals in the fly ash (Hakkila 1986, for information about wood ash Cd see chapter 1.3). The alkanity (Demeyer et al. 2001) and leachability of some heavy metals (Ramesh and Koziński 2001, Zhang et al. 2001) of ash decreases with increasing combustion temperature. Elemental concentrations in wood ash therefore show great variation.

The most abundant element in Finnish wood ash on a mass concentration basis is calcium followed by potassium and magnesium (Table 1). There is more variation in the concentrations of other elements, but usually wood ash contains more phosphorus, iron and manganese than zinc, copper and boron. The amounts of sulphur and aluminum can be relatively high when the ash originates from paper and pulp industry. The amount of sulphur in wood ash is seldom measured/reported, however, probably because it is assumed that most of the sulphur is lost from the ash to the air with combustion gases (Hakkila and Fredriksson 1996, Silfverberg 1996a, Eriksson 1998a), However, according to Obernberger (1998), 40-90% of the total S in biofuel remains in the ash and the rest is emitted as SO_2 and SO_3 with the flue gas. The amounts of carbon and nitrogen are negligible in wood ash because they are generally oxidized and transformed to gaseous constituents during combustion (Demeyer et al. 2001). Khanna et al. (1994) grouped the elements in wood ash to those that rapidly dissolve (>50% of total content) (K, B, and S), those that dissolution increases with increasing dilution of ash with water (Ca, Mg, Si, Fe, and Al) and those that are quite insoluble (P).

During the combustion of wood, organic compounds are mineralized and the base cations are transformed to their oxides which then slowly hydrate and subsequently carbonate under atmospheric conditions (Demeyer et al. 2001). Oxides and hydroxides are the more reactive while carbonates the more slowly reactive fractions of wood ash (Steenari and Lindqvist 1997). During spreading fluffy loose wood ash its reactive fractions are detrimental to human health (Juntunen 1982), and they can erode parts of the spreading machines (Hakkila and Kalaja 1983), cause salt effects in soils and burn damage to plant tissues (see chapters 1.2.1 and 1.2.2 below). In order to reduce these harmful effects

Nutrient	Content in ash (kg t ⁻¹) (means± SD; n = 130-199)
Ca	226 (81)
К	47.8 (33.8)
Mg	32.7 (15.5)
Fe	22.9 (34.6)
Р	15.5 (9.7)
Mn	14.9 (8.0)
Zn	1.66 (1.65)
В	0.27 (0.25)

Table 1. Element concentrations in Finnish wood ashes.

Data from Silfverberg 1996a.

of wood ashes one can stabilize them before spreading in forest by self-hardening (compacting in a pile), pelletizing (pressing to form pellets) or granulating (granulating in a drum or a disc) (Holmberg and Claesson 2001). In all these stabilization techniques ash is mixed first with water and in pelletation or granulation a binder (e.g. dolomite) is used (Holmberg and Claesson 2001). Self-hardening is the cheapest technique to stabilize wood ash. In hardening process the reactivity of wood ash is reduced by hydroxide formation and carbonation of hydroxides (Ca(OH)₂ \rightarrow CaCO₃) (Steenari and Lindqvist 1997). Calcite (CaCO₃) is approximately a hundred times less soluble than calcium oxide (CaO) and calcium hydroxide (Ca(OH)₂) (Steenari et al. 1999). Carbonation also reduces the alkanity of the ash (Steenari and Lindqvist 1997).

I.2 Wood ash effects in the coniferous forest ecosystem

The following chapters summarize the knowledge about the effects of wood ash fertilization in the coniferous forest ecosystem (shortly summarized in Table 2).

1.2.1 Soil and water chemistry

The most commonly reported changes on humus layer chemistry following wood ash fertilization are a decrease in extractable Al concentrations, a rise in pH and in the concentrations of base cations (Khanna et al. 1994, Bramryd and Fransman 1995, Kahl et al. 1996, Levula et al. 2000, Saarsalmi et al. 2001, Ludwig et al. 2002).

For N and P the effects of wood ash fertilization are not so clear. Wood ash application was found to increase the amount of total N and extractable P in the humus layer only in one of the four studied forests 16 years after application (Saarsalmi et al. 2001). Levula et al. (2000) and Tamminen (1998) also observed an increase in extractable P contents after wood ash treatment. Fritze et al. (1995) and Arvidsson and Lundkvist (2003) did not observe an ash effect on the amount of humus layer N contents and Kahl et al. (1996) and Fransson et al. (1999) did not observe an increase for extractable P contents. The amount of total N in the humus layer has sometimes been shown to decrease after wood ash treatment (Fritze et al. 1994b, Haimi et al. 2000).

Because nutrient concentrations in the groundwater of peatlands have been shown to increase after wood ash treatment (Nilsson and Lundin 1996, Piirainen 2001, Moilanen et al. 2002), there has been concern about a possible threat that applying wood ash could cause to watercourses. The following summarizes the knowledge about the effects of wood ash fertilization on min-

eral (upland) soil water quality. In the studies by Fransman and Nihlgård (1995) and Ring et al. (1999), wood ash application did not change pH or the concentrations of Ca, SO²₄, NO₃ and Al in soil water. Neither did Fransson et al. (1999) find increase in soil water pH or concentration of P nor Arvidsson (2001) recorded an increase in soil water pH or the concentrations of NO₃ and Al. However, there are also studies where a rise in soil water pH and the concentrations of these ions has been observed due to wood ash application. In the study by Kahl et al. (1996) there was a rise in pH and Ca, SO²⁻⁴ and NO⁻³ concentrations after wood ash fertilization (24 and 38 t ash ha⁻¹). All the changes, except the rise in solution pH and SO²⁻₄ concentrations at the application level of 38 t ash ha⁻¹ were transient. In the study by Lundell et al. (2001) there was a clear increase of Ca and a slight increase in the leaching of SO²⁻⁴ and Al after wood ash addition even though the application level was quite low (4 t ha-¹). Arvidsson (2001) also observed increased levels of Ca in soil water after low application of wood ash (3 t ha⁻¹), but they decreased to control levels within five years after application at most of the studied sites. When Ludwig et al. (2002) applied 4.8 t ha⁻¹ of wood ash to one forest plot (no replications), they observed an increase in the concentrations of Ca, SO_{4}^{2} , NO₃ and Al in soil water, but these changes were absent after two years.

Fransman and Nihlgård (1995) studied the quality of runoff water from forested areas for 4 years after wood ash treatment (2.2 t ha⁻¹) and the only change they observed was an increase in the concentration of K. In the study by Tulonen et al. (2002), performed in a forest growing on mineral soil, 12% of the catchment area was treated with wood ash (6.1 t ha⁻¹) and resulted in a slight increase in runoff (annual average) and recipient lake water pH and K concentrations, but no increase in Ca, P and N concentrations occurred. Wood ash fertilization thus does not appear to lead to the eutrophication of water-courses as there is negligible leaching of N and P. Wood ash treatment has, however, been found to increase dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations in some studies (Weber et al. 1985, Khanna et al. 1994, Ludwig et al. 2000, Chirenje et al. 2002). Yet Parkman and Munthe (1998) did not observe increased DOC concentrations in runoff water from a study area treated with granulated wood ash (2.2 t ha⁻¹) 4-5 years earlier. There is a lack of knowledge about the effects of wood ash on upland forest groundwater quality.

A salt-effect is sometimes observed after wood ash application (Eriksson et al. 1998), whereby soil pH initially (during the first month) decreases with increasing level of ash because of increased ionic strength and displacement of H and Al from exchange sites by other cations dissolving from the ash. Later on, when the carbonates and oxides dissolve to a higher degree than neutral salts, the ash has a more direct alkalizing effect (Eriksson et al. 1998). A temporary decrease in soil water pH has also been observed in the first year after wood ash addition (4.8 t ha⁻¹) (Ludwig et al. 2002).

In summary, the effects of wood ash fertilization on the chemical properties of upland forest soils are beneficial - soil acidity is decreased and base cation concentrations, which are important plant nutrients, increased. Eutrophication of watercourses related to wood ash treatment has not been observed.

1.2.2 Forest floor and ground vegetation

The effect of wood ash on vegetation depends on the development stage of the forest stand (Pihlström et al. 2000), site fertility (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Arvidsson et al. 2002), form (Rühling 1996, Kellner and Weibull 1998) and dosage (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Ferm et al. 1992, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001) of the ash applied. Although the effects of wood ash are not consistent in all studies performed in upland forests, some generalization can be made.

The coverage of herbs such as *Epilobium angustifolium* (Pihlström et al. 2000, Arvidsson et al. 2002, Olsson and Kellner 2002), *Trientalis europaea* (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Arvidsson et al. 2002), *Melampyrum* (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Pihlström et al. 2000, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001) and *Taraxacum* (Rühling 1996, Olsson and Kellner 2002), grasses such as *Deschampsia flexuosa* (Silfverberg and Issakainen 1991, Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Arvidsson et al. 2002) and *Luzula pilosa* (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Olsson and Kellner 2002), and shrubs such as *Rubus ideaus* (Rühling 1996, Arvidsson et al. 2002) increased. The increase in the coverage of *E. angustifolium* and *D. flexuosa* has been attributed to higher nitrogen availability in the soil (Arvidsson et al. 2002).

The coverage of dwarf shrubs decreased in some studies (e.g. *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* - Levula et al. 2000, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001; *Vaccinium myrtillus* - Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001 and *Calluna vulgaris* - Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001, Arvidsson et al. 2002) while increased in other (e.g. *V. vitis-idaea* and *V. myrtillus* - Pihlström et al. 2000). The berry yields of *V. vitis-idaea* and *V. myrtillus* have also been shown to increase after wood ash fertilization (Silfverberg and Issakainen 1991), but the berry yield of *V. myrtillus* decreased in the study by Moilanen and Issakainen (2000).

Wood ash has caused salt-burn damage to bryophytes *Dicranum polysetum*, *Pleurozium schreberi* and *Hylocomium splendens* (Kellner and Weibull 1998, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001). Despite of the burn damage on *H. splendens*, no changes in its coverage were observed (Kellner and Weibull 1998, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001), but that of *D. polysetum* (Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001) and *P. schreberi* (Kellner and Weibull 1998) decreased. In the study by Kellner and Weibull (1998) a significant negative relationship between burn damage and the photosynthetic capacity of the bryophytes was found. One bryophyte, the calciphilic *Pohlia nutans*, benefited from wood ash fertilization (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001). Lichens *Cladonia* (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Pihlström et al. 2000) and *Cladina* (Gyllin and Kruuse 1996, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001) suffer from wood ash treatment. There are also studies were no changes in the cover of bryophytes (Levula et

al. 2000, Arvidsson et al. 2002) or lichens (Kellner and Weibull 1998, Levula et al. 2000) were found.

In many long-term wood ash fertilization studies performed on peatland an increase in the coverage of herbs and grasses and colonization by nitrophiles (e.g. *E. angustifolium*) has also been observed (Lukkala 1951, Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989, Ferm et al. 1992, Moilanen et al. 2002). In addition, *Sphagnum* mosses are substituted by forest mosses. These changes in vegetation could result in increased decomposition of needle litter and improvement in nutrient cycling and thereby increased tree growth (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985).

In conclusion, in upland forests the changes in the composition of the forest floor and ground vegetation after wood ash treatment were quite small (Levula et al. 2000, Jacobson and Gustafsson 2001, Arvidsson et al. 2002). In the study by Pihlström et al. (2000) the changes in the vegetation following wood ash application were mainly changes in the abundance of existing species and not in the appearance of the new species and disappearance of the old ones. However, Gyllin and Kruuse (1996) and Arvidsson et al. (2002) observed a slight increase in species richness after wood ash application. In the peatland forests the changes in the vegetation were more pronounced.

I.2.3 Trees

I.2.3.1 Growth

In the study by Silfverberg (1995) soaking (one day or week) Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seeds in a wood ash solution decreased their germination, while Rikala and Jozefek (1990) did not find an ash effect on the germination capacity of Scots pine or Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) on peat. Wood ash treatment on peat increased the number (Silfverberg 1995) and growth (Kaunisto 1987, Rikala and Jozefek 1990) of Scots pine seedlings and decreased their growth disturbances caused by nutrient imbalances (Kaunisto 1987). The higher number of surviving seedlings indicates that wood ash improves the forest regeneration.

Wood ash has also been shown to increase the growth of Scots pine on peatlands in many long-term (9-47 years) experiments (Lukkala 1951, Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989, Silfverberg 1991, Ferm et al. 1992, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Moilanen et al. 2002, Hytönen 2003). Usually the ash effect was stronger when the used dose was higher (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989), but not always (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985). In addition, the growth increment of trees was higher on peat with higher nitrogen content (Lukkala 1951, Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg 1991). According to Moilanen and Issakainen (2000), the increase in the growth increment appeared sooner (2-3

years after application) on sites with higher nitrogen contents than on poorer sites (7-8 years after application).

There are few publications in Finland concerning wood ash fertilization effects on tree growth on mineral soils. A Finnish review article (Saarsalmi and Mälkönen 2001) concluded that wood ash does not increase the growth of coniferous upland forests on mineral soils. According to a Swedish review (Nohrstedt 2001), wood ash stimulated forest growth on sites with a humus Cto-N ratio below 30, while on N-poor sites the effect could be reduced growth. When Tamminen (1998) studied the effect of wood ash fertilization (3 t ha⁻¹) on the height growth of 8-15-years old Scots pines he observed an increase in growth 2-5 years after fertilization (2 replications). Sikström (1992) did not observe increased conifer tree (Scots pine and Norway spruce) growth during 5 year study period in stands fertilized with guite low doses (0.3 and 0.5 t ha-¹) of wood ash. Jacobson (2001) found the same result 7-11 years after fertilization but with higher doses $(1, 3, 6, 9 \text{ t ha}^{-1})$ unless nitrogen (150 kg ha^{-1}) was also applied. However, in the study by Jacobson (2001) there was an increasing, although not significant, trend in tree growth on fertile sites treated with wood ash. Levula (1991) found that when nitrogen (180 kg N ha⁻¹) was added with wood ash (2 t ha⁻¹) the volume increment of Scots pine 9 years after ash application was ca. 73%. In the study by Saramäki and Susila (1991) the increase in Scots pine volume growth after wood ash application (5 t ha⁻¹) with nitrogen (urea 400 kg ha⁻¹) during 10 years was ca. 60%, and without nitrogen it was 17% (no replications). In another Finnish study, Moilanen and Issakainen (2000) found that wood ash treatment (3.6 and 7.2 t ha⁻¹ 10 years earlier) did not increase the growth of Scots pine, except on the plot where N in addition to ash (4.5 t ha⁻¹19 years earlier) also have been applied.

The effects of peat ash on tree growth have also been studied. However, the acid neutralization capacity (Saarela 1991) and nutrient contents (especially K) are not as high as in wood ash, but it has been considered as a phosphorus fertilizer (Hakkila 1986, Saarela 1991, Silfverberg and Issakainen 1991, Issakainen et al. 1994, Oikarinen and Pasanen 1994). Thus, more peat ash than wood ash is needed to achieve the same growth increment for Scots pines (Kaunisto 1987, Saramäki and Susila 1991, Issakainen et al. 1994, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Hytönen 2003).

In summary, while wood ash fertilization has been shown to generally increase the growth of coniferous trees on peatlands forests this is not the case with upland forests unless extra nitrogen is also applied.

1.2.3.2 Foliar chemistry

In tree stands growing on mineral soils P and especially N deficiency is quite common (Raitio et al. 2000). A boron deficiency also sometimes occurs. While wood ash treatment has not been shown to increase foliar N concentrations in conifer trees growing on mineral soils (Vuorinen and Kurkela 2000, Jacobson 2001), it has been shown to increase B concentrations (Moilanen and

Issakainen 2000, Jacobson 2001, Nohrstedt 2001). However, Arvidsson and Lundkvist (2002) have shown increased Norway spruce needle N concentrations after ash treatment, and attributed it to increased mineralization of soil N (see below chapter 1.2.4.1). Also needle P (Kaunisto 1987, Jacobson 2001, Arvidsson and Lundkvist 2002) and K (Kaunisto 1987, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Jacobson 2001, Arvidsson and Lundkvist 2002) concentrations have been shown to increase after wood ash treatment. In the studies by Vuorinen and Kurkela (2000) and Ludwig et al. (2002), wood ash fertilization was found to not affect the nutrient concentrations of Scots pine needles.

In peatland forests P and K (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989, Moilanen et al. 2002), and B (Kaunisto and Paavilainen 1988) deficiency may occur. Studies in peatlands have found that wood ash treatment sometimes increases nutrient concentrations in Scots pine needles and sometimes has no effect. These effects were not consistent for all nutrients, but generally needle concentrations of K (Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989, Ferm et al. 1992, Silfverberg et al. 1994, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Moilanen et al. 2002, Hytönen 2003) and B (Silfverberg and Issakainen 1987, Ferm et al. 1992, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Hytönen 2003) have been found to increase after wood ash fertilization. Increases in needle P concentrations have also been observed (Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989, Silfverberg et al. 1994, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Moilanen et al. 2002). These increases in needle P. K and B concentrations have been found to be long-term: lasting for 51. 51 and 26 years, respectively (Moilanen and Issakainen 2000). Long-term increases in needle N concentrations on peatlands after wood ash treatment have also been recorded (Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989). Wood ash fertilization has no effect on needle nutrient concentrations in stands with originally good nutrient status (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg 1991).

In summary, wood ash fertilization has often been shown to increase concentrations of P, K and B in Scots pine needles, both on uplands and peatlands.

I.2.3.3 Diseases

In upland forests wood ash treatment has been shown to have little or no effect on the occurrence of tree diseases. Wood ash fertilization did not affect the *Lophodermella sulcigena* infection of Scots pine needles, but nitrogen fertilization increased it (Vuorinen and Kurkela 2000). The infection frequency of *Heterobasidion annosum*, the causative agent of root rot in Scots pine roots, was not higher and average mycelia growth was lower on plots treated with wood ash (Piri 2000). In the study by Tamminen (1998), wood ash had no significant effect on the occurrence of Scots pine flatbug infection (*Aradus cinnamomeus*) although a slight decreasing trend was seen. Also in peatland forests wood ash fertilization has been shown to increase the proportion of healthy trees (Kaunisto 1987, Ferm et al. 1992, Hytönen 2003).

In conclusion for the chapter 1.2.3 (effects on trees)., wood ash can be successfully be used to remediate soils by reducing soil acidity and the depletion of nutrients rather than a fertilizer to increase the growth of coniferous trees directly.

I.2.4 Decomposers

I.2.4.1 Microbes

Microbial biomass has commonly been measured using substrate-induced respiration (SIR), fumigation-extraction (FE) and the ATP content of the soil. The PLFA method has also become popular. In this method the phospholipid fatty acid content of the microbial cell membranes is measured. PLFA analysis can also be used to reveal changes in the structure of the microbial community and signature fatty acids can be used to indicate of certain groups of microorganisms (see below).

In general wood ash treatment has been shown to have no effect on the microbial biomass of the boreal forest humus layer in a number of field studies. Thus, no change in SIR (Priha and Smolander 1994) or FE (Fritze et al. 1994b, Priha and Smolander 1994), or ATP content of the soil (Bååth and Arnebrant 1994) was reported. However, Bååth and Arnebrant (1994) observed an increase in SIR after wood ash fertilization. Bååth and Arnebrant (1994) also observed an increase in the amount of culturable bacteria, but the acridine-orange stained direct counts (AODC) did not change. In contrast, Bååth et al. (1995) observed a decrease in total amounts of phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) after wood ash fertilization, but this decrease was only significant at the highest application level (5 t ha⁻¹). In addition to application level of wood ash, also the exposure time to ash has been shown to affect on the strength of microbial biomass response. Frostegård et al. (1993a) did not find an ash effect on the total amounts of PLFAs 5 years after the treatment at the same site where Bååth et al. (1995) found an ash effect two years after treatment. When bacterial and fungal biomasses in the humus layer after wood ash treatment have been measured separately with PLFA analysis Frostegård et al. (1993a) found no change in either while Bååth et al. (1995) found them both to decrease. When fungal biomass was measured as ergosterol content, no change following ash fertilization was observed by Fritze et al. (1994b).

Although the microbial biomass may not change after ash treatment its activity may. In most of the wood ash studies performed in boreal forests, microbial activity in humus layer, measured as either mineralization activity (basal respiration rate measured as CO_2 production; Bååth and Arnebrant 1994, Fritze et al. 1994b, Fritze et al. 1995) or growth rate (thymidine incorporation rate; Bååth and Arnebrant 1994, Bååth et al. 1995, Hagerberg and Wallander 2002), increased. However, in the study by Priha and Smolander (1994), wood ash treatment (2.5 t ha⁻¹) did not have an effect on respiration rates one year after application. Raison and McGarity (1980) observed that ash addition to soil (sandy podzolic soil) increased the respiration rate (measured as CO_2 production), compared to a sterilized control soil. This indicates that ash has a direct effect on microbial activity. In addition, they also showed that the elevation of soil pH was the major factor, which led to the increased respiration rate as neutralized ash did not give a respiration response. An increased respiration rate is usually taken to indicate increased mineralization and nutrient cycling, but it may also indicate a stress response by soil microbes due to increase in soil pH. Bacterial communities in ash treated soils have, however, been shown to be able to adapt to increased humus layer pH (Bååth and Arnebrant 1994, Bååth et al. 1995).

The mineralization activity of microbes can also be measured as the mass loss of needle litter. In the study by Smolander et al. (1996), wood ash fertilization increased the mass loss of Scots pine needle litter.

Wood ash fertilization has also been shown to increase net nitrification (Martikainen 1984) and the numbers of autotrophic nitrifiers (NH_4 and NO_2 oxidizers) (Martikainen 1985a) in humus layer samples one and two years after application. Five years after wood ash application nitrification rates were no longer elevated above controls, unless ammonium had also been added with ash (Martikainen 1985b). Neither did Fritze et al. (1994b) observe increased nitrification 2 years after wood ash application. Increased nitrification may lead to nitrate leaching from the soil (see chapter 1.2.1).

The effects of wood ash fertilization on soil microbes have also been studied in peatland forests. Microbial activity has been measured as respiration rate (Silvola et al. 1985, Ferm et al. 1992), decomposition rate of needles (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985, Silfverberg and Hotanen 1989) and cellulose (Karsisto 1979, Weber et al. 1985, Moilanen et al. 2002), and all have increased following ash application. Also the abundance of many bacterial groups were increased by wood ash. Karsisto (1979) observed an increase in the total number of bacteria, starch decomposing, glucose fermenting and lipolytic bacteria 53 years after wood ash treatment and Weber et al. (1985) in the numbers of aerobic, amylolytic, denitrifying and clostridial bacteria 2 years after wood ash treatment. In both these studies the numbers of proteolytic, ammonifying and ureolytic bacteria and the net mineralization of N increased. In the study by Huikari (1953) wood ash application increased the amounts of aerobic bacteria and yeasts in the surface layer of peat, but decreased the amounts of moulds.

PLFA analysis, which has been shown to be a sensitive measure of environmental changes (Pennanen et al. 1996, Pennanen et al. 1998, Bååth et al. 1998), has been used to study the effects of wood ash on forest soil microbial community structure. In the study by Frostegård et al. (1993a), wood ash treatment induced a change in humus layer PLFA pattern but not in microbial biomass five years after treatment, which indicated that some species suffered from wood ash treatment while others benefited and compensated for the loss in biomass caused by more sensitive species. Also Bååth et al. (1995) observed a change in humus layer microbial community structure two years after wood ash fertilization. In both these studies the changes in microbial community structures correlated with humus layer pH. Fritze et al. (1994a) found that humus layer quality analyzed with near-infrared spectroscopy (NIR) was not significantly different between wood ash treated and control samples. However, when Bååth et al. (1995) performed an infrared spectroscopy (IR) analysis of humus layer samples they did find difference between wood ash treated and control samples. Bååth et al. (1995) concluded that the changes in humus layer microbial community structure were related to humus layer quantity (availability of organic matter), quality and pH. The availability of organic matter may be related to increased amounts of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) that has sometimes been observed after wood ash application (see chapter 1.2.1). In addition to increased amounts of DOC, the amount of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) has been shown to increase after wood ash addition (Ludwig et al. 2000). N is an important macro nutrient for microbes, although microbial growth in soils is generally C limited (Aldén et al. 2001).

A deeper sight into the changes of microbial community with PLFA analysis may be achieved by using signature fatty acids specific for certain groups of microorganisms. For example, there are signature fatty acids for fungi (18:2\omega\); Federle 1986, Frosteg\u00e9rd and B\u00e9\u00e9hth 1996), arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi e.g. *Glomus* species (16:1ω5; Graham et al. 1995, Olsson et al. 1995, Larsen et al. 1998) and actinomycetes (10Me16:0, 10Me17:0, and 10Me18:0; Kroppenstedt 1985). In their AM fungal studies performed in the laboratory, Larsen et al. (1998) and Olsson et al. (1998) used $18:2\omega 6$ as an indicator of saprophytic fungi, while Olsson and Wallander (1998; laboratory study) and Hagerberg and Wallander (2002; field study) used it as an indicator of ectomycorrhizal (EM) fungi. Since mycorrhizal hyphae form a substantial part of fungal biomass in soil (Finlay and Söderström 1989), the amount of $18:2\omega6$ in field soil sample probably indicates the amount of EM fungi. EM are mainly associated with woody plants, including the genera Pinus and Picea, while AM are associated with herbs and grasses. It is noted that the coverage of herbs and grasses often increases after wood ash fertilization (see chapter 1.2.2). In the studies by Frostegård et al. (1993a) and Bååth et al. (1995), the amount of PLFAs 16:1w5 and 10Me18:0 increased after ash application. Frostegård (1993a) did not observe change in the amount of PLFA 18:2ω6, but Bååth et al. (1995) observed a significant decrease at the highest dose of wood ash (5 t ha⁻¹).

EM fungi play an important role in the nutrition of trees because they can transfer organic and inorganic nutrients from soil to the colonized tree roots. Nitrogen deficiency is common in boreal forest ecosystems because only a small fraction of total soil N is available to plants. EM fungi infection have been shown to improve the nitrogen acquisition of trees through providing access to organic N (France and Reid 1983, Finlay and Söderström 1989, Chalot and Brun 1998) and increase the uptake of ammonium (NH₄⁺) (France and Reid 1983, Rygiewicz et al. 1984a, Wallander et al. 1999) and nitrate

(NO₃⁻) (France and Reid 1983, Rygiewicz et al. 1984b). The response of EM fungi to wood ash fertilized soil is thus important, as wood ash contains negligible amounts of N itself.

As EM fungi have been shown to colonize (Mahmood et al. 2002) and solubilize wood ash (Mahmood et al. 2001, 2003) they may affect the acquisition of N and other nutrients in wood ash treated forests. Phosphorous in wood ash is primarily bound in apatite and other compounds of low solubilities (Steenari and Lindqkvist 1997, Nieminen 2003). EM fungi may be expected to play an important role in mobilizing the P in wood ash (Mahmood et al. 2001, 2003). In wood ash treated soil microbial biomass (including mycorrhizal extramatrical hyphae) has been found to store P and it could be released for use of trees (Clarholm 1998). EM fungi have also been shown to release Ca from the wood ash and transport it to the roots of Norway spruce (Hagerberg 2003, Wallander et al. 2003, Mahmood et al. 2003).

A third wood ash nutirient possibly affected by EM fungi is K, which significant fraction is rapidly released from wood ash (Eriksson 1998b, Steenari et al. 1998, Steenari et al. 1999, Holmberg et al. 2000, Hagerberg and Wallander 2002, Nieminen 2003). As some EM fungi have been shown to have high capacity to accumulate K (Kottke et al. 1998, Wallander et al. 2003), they could play an important part in hindering the leaching of K.

Studies have shown that wood ash treatment does not have detrimental effects on EM fungi. Indeed, wood ash has been found to stimulate EM mycelium production (e.g. Ohtonen and Tuohenmaa 1999, Mahmood et al. 2001, Hagerberg and Wallander 2002). Wood ash treatment has been shown to have no (Erland and Söderström 1991) or only minor effects (Mahmood 2000) on EM community structure in coniferous tree forests. However, some negative effects on EM fungi have been observed after wood ash treatment. Rühling (1996) found that while the occurrence of fruiting bodies of saprophytic fungi (e.g. *Clitocybe, Lycoperdon*) increased those of mycorrhiza-forming species (*Russula, Boletus* s.l.) decreased after ash application. Erland and Söderström (1991) observed a decrease in the number of mycorrhizal root tips per meter root in Scots pine seedlings 4 months after wood ash fertilization. But Mahmood et al. (2002) did not observe a change in the number of mycorrhizal root tips of Norway spruce seedlings 7 years after ash application.

In summary, the effects of wood ash on forest soil microbes are stimulative. Mineralization activity is increased leading to improved nutrient cycling. Because wood ash does not contain nitrogen, microbes and especially mycorrhizal fungi play an important role in improving the acquisition of soil nitrogen for transfer to trees.

1.2.4.2 Fauna

Although microbes play a major role in decomposition processes in forest soils also soil fauna either directly or indirectly increase organic matter decomposition and nutrient mineralization (Faber and Verhoef 1991, Heneghan and Bolger 1998, Edsberg 2000), and subsequently coniferous tree seedling growth (Jentschke et al. 1995, Setälä 1995). The dominant soil animal groups in coniferous forest soils in terms of biomass are enchytraeids and earthworms, followed by mites, spiders, beetles, nematodes, collembolas, protozoans, rotifers and dipterous larvae (Huhta et al. 1998). Enchytraeids and earthworms influence more the soil processes in boreal forest soil than microarthropods (mites; Oribatida, Mesostigmata, Prostigmata, and collembolas) and nematodes (Huhta et al. 1998).

The effect of wood ash fertilization on the abundance of enchytraeids has varied. Lundkvist (1998) and Liiri et al. (2002b) did not find a reaction to wood ash treatment while Huhta et al. (1986) observed a decrease in the biomass of enchytraeids following forest wood ash application and Haimi et al. (2000) found the numbers of *Cognettia sphagnetorum*, which was the only enchytraeid worm species, decreased. *C. sphagnetorum* is the dominant enchytraeid worm species and forms the main part of the soil animal biomass in northern European coniferous forests (see review Huhta et al. 1998). In addition *C. sphagnetorum* may be a keystone species in these soils (Huhta et al. 1998). Lundkvist (1998; ash with NH₄ addition) found an increased abundance of earthworms in wood ash treated soil while Huhta et al. (1986) found no earthworms in control soils and only a few in ash treated soil. Both Huhta et al. (1986) and Liiri et al. (2002b) found an increase in the number of nematodes, especially bacterial feeders related to wood ash treatment.

Huhta et al. (1986) and Haimi et al. (2000) observed a decrease in the total abundance of microarthropods following forest wood ash fertilization, but this was not found by Liiri et al. (2002a, b), probably because of the lower increase in humus layer pH. The effect of wood ash fertilization on the number of collembolas has been neutral (Haimi et al. 2000), positive (Huhta et al. 1986) or negative (Liiri et al. 2002a). The reaction of mites to wood ash fertilization has also been varied with stimulation (Huhta et al. 1986; Prostigmata), inhibition (Huhta et al. 1986; Mesostigmata, Oribatida, Haimi et al. 2000; Oribatida) or no reaction (Haimi et al. 2000; Mesostigmata, Liiri et al. 2002a; Mesostigmata, Oribatida) in their abundance being reported.

All the above-mentioned changes observed by Haimi et al. (2000) were caused with an ash application dose of 5 t ha⁻¹, but not with 1 t ha⁻¹. In addition to the changes in the abundance of some soil fauna groups, changes in the vertical distribution have also been observed after wood ash doses of 5 (Haimi et al. 2000), 7 (Huhta et al. 1986) and 8 t ha⁻¹ (Lundkvist 1998), but not with lower doses. All these studies were performed in the field. In the study by Huhta et al. (1986) wood ash effect on soil fauna was stronger in the laboratory than in the field, but the results were generally in good accordance. Neither did Liiri et al. (2002a) find a discrepancy between the wood ash effects on soil fauna in their field and laboratory experiments.

In summary, although some soil fauna groups and species suffer from wood ash treatment, soil fauna in general show little response to wood ash fertilization (Haimi et al. 2000, Liiri 2001). Even in the study by Huhta et al. (1986),

Compartment of ecosystem	Effect of wood ash fertilization
Trees	 little effect on growth increase in needle P, K and B content little effect on disease occurrence
Forest floor and ground vegetation	- a slight increase in abundance of herbs and grasses and decrease of lichens and bryopytes
Humus layer	 rise in pH and base cation content increase in carbon mineralization change in microbial community structure little response on faunal community stimulation of EM mycelium production nutrient solubilization from ash by EM fungi which then accumulate nutrients or transport them to tree roots
Soil water	- little effect on soil water quality
Runoff and lake water	- a slight increase in pH and K content
Groundwater	- lack of knowledge

Table 2. A summary of general effects of wood ash fertilization on coniferous, upland forests from the publications cited in this thesis

where the effect of ash on certain soil fauna was negative, the biomass of soil fauna was much higher in ash treated soil than in controls if earthworms, which have a strong influence on soil processes, were included in the calculation. This was attributed to the rise in soil pH brought about by the wood ash.

1.3 Wood ash harmful substances

Although wood ash has many beneficial effects when spread in forest ecosystems, as stated in chapters above, it does contain toxic substances, which may be harmful. These toxic substances include organic compounds (polyaromatic hydrocarbons, chlorobenzenes, and chlorophenols), ¹³⁷Cs activity and heavy metals (Cu, Zn, Mn, Pb, Cd, Cr, Hg, and Ni).

The levels of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) in wood ash granules were below 0.16 mg kg⁻¹ in stored granules and 6.7 mg kg⁻¹ in fresh granules in the study by Holmberg et al. (2000). Ash granules are sometimes dried in order to increase their hardening rate and this drying process affects the concentration of PAHs in granules. When dried with flue gas at a heating plant, PAH concentrations were 0.8 mg kg⁻¹ compared to 1.4 mg kg⁻¹ when dried under hot air (Holmberg et al. 2003). However, PAH concentrations in wood ash can be high. In the study by Bundt et al. (2001), wood ash total PAH concentration was 16.8 mg kg⁻¹ and one year after its application (8 t ha⁻¹) in the forest, concentrations in the organic horizon were up to six fold higher than those in controls. According to Danish legislation, the content of PAH in wood ash fertilizer should not exceed 3 mg kg⁻¹d.m. (Møller and Ingerslev 2001). Currently, there are no limits set in Finnish legislation.

The Chernobyl nuclear accident in 1986 resulted in the deposition of radioactivity to forest ecosystems in Finland and Sweden. This has led to increased radioactivity of wood ash. The Swedish Radiation Protection Institute recommends that no wood ash with radioactivity exceeding 5 kBq kg⁻¹ should be applied to forests (Högbom and Nohrstedt 2001). In the study by Högbom and Nohrstedt (2001) the application of wood ash (3 t ha⁻¹) contaminated with ¹³⁷Cs (0 - 4.8 kBq kg⁻¹) did not change or even decreased the ¹³⁷Cs activity within forest soil and vegetation at one studied site. One explanation for the decrease in radioactivity given was the antagonistic effect of K occurring in wood ash. In another Swedish study, part (11 - 24%) of the 137 Cs (1.9 - 2.1 kBq kg⁻¹) in ash granules (4 t ha⁻¹) leached into the soil and transferred from there to trees during 5 year period (Ravila and Holm 1996). However, no ¹³⁷Cs activity was observed in the soil water at depths of 20 and 50 cm. In Finland, Levula et al. (2000) studied the effect of wood ash (5 t ha⁻¹) having ¹³⁷Cs concentrations of 5 - 10 kBg kg⁻¹, and they found that wood ash application decreased the 137 Cs activity of lingonberries (Vaccinium vitis-idaea).

Because of its severe toxicity and relatively high mobility, cadmium (Cd) is considered to be the most harmful heavy metal in the wood ash. When Wang et al. (2001) studied the partitioning of Cd during combustion of municipal solid waste they observed that about 80% of Cd was partitioned in flue gas, about 20% in fly ash and none in bottom ash. Because these partitioning measurements of Cd are from incineration of municipal waste they are not strictly comparable to incineration of wood. Cd content of wood ash tends to increase with decreasing particle size (Zhan et al. 1996, Obernberger et al. 1997) and thus Cd concentrates in fine fly ash fraction (Narodoslawsky and Obernberger 1996). Fly ash forms the major part of the ash produced in modern incineration systems (circulating fluidized bed boilers; Eriksson et al. 1998) used by Finnish forest companies. In addition, today the amounts of heavy metals in wood ash have increased due to better filtering in the incineration systems. The Cd concentration of wood ash (varying between 1 - 30 mg kg⁻¹ ash; Steenari and Lindqvist 1997) is generally higher than is allowed for fertilizers use in agriculture; the limit being in Finland d" 3 mg kg⁻¹. There is currently not enough knowledge available to recommend restrictions on the Cd concentration of wood ash for use as forest fertilizer in Finland. In Sweden, the National Board of Forestry has recommended that it should not be $> 30 \text{ mg Cd kg}^{-1}$ ash (Arvidsson 2001) and the Danish Environmental Protection Agency recommended that maximum Cd level should be 15 mg Cd kg⁻¹ ash and the load should not exceed 0.5 t ha⁻¹ per 10 years (Pedersen 2003).

The adsorptive capacity of ash has been used to adsorb Cd from contaminated water (Iyer and Scott 2001, Ricou-Hoeffer et al. 2001). There have also been tests done to remove Cd from wood ash (Pedersen 2003, Pedersen et al. 2003). This electrodialytic process removed about 70% of the Cd (28 mg kg⁻¹) from wood ash but the technology is still at a too early stage to make reasonable cost calculations, but the aim is to make the costs competitive with the costs for land filling. Another way to reduce the amount of Cd in wood ash is to concentrate it in a fine ash fraction (e.g. filter fly ash or condensation sludge), which could be separated from that part of the ash used for fertilization. This could be achieved by new furnace technology (Narodoslawsky and Obernberger 1996, Obernberger 1998).

1.4 Overall conclusion

The use and benefits of wood ash as a forest fertilizer depends on its quality, in particular unburnt carbon, nutrient, heavy metal and organic compound contents. If the wood ash contains high concentrations of harmful substances, it should not be used at all. Because elemental concentrations in wood ash show great variation its quality should always be determined. Where wood ash is used in upland forests it should preferably be supplemented with N in order to maintain a balanced nutrient status. To avoid potential drastic pH effects of wood ash, hardened rather than not loose ash should be used.

2 AIMS OF THE THESIS

My main objective was to find out if the cadmium (Cd) content of wood ash cause harm to boreal, coniferous forest soil humus layer microbes (I-III, VI). In addition, the long-term effects of wood ash on forest soil humus layer microbes (IV) and decomposition rate of needle litter and thereby on tree growth (V) were assessed. Also the potential of wood ash as a remediation agent of heavy metal polluted soil was studied (VII). More precisely, the questions that I have tried to answer were:

- 1) Is Cd-containing wood ash harmful to forest soil microbes? (I, II, III)
- 2) Does wood ash Cd transfer to food chains? (III)
- 3) Does wood ash exposure to simulated acid rain change the bioavailability of Cd and thereby affect forest soil microbes? (VI)
- 4) Does the form (loose vs. hardened) and the application dose of wood ash affect the magnitude of response of the measured forest soil chemical and microbial variables? (IV)
- 5) Does wood ash fertilization affect the forest soil microbes and needle litter decomposition rate still after 18-20 years of the treatment? (IV, V)
- 6) Is wood ash a potential remediation agent for acidified and metal polluted forest soil? (VII)

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Experimental designs

The experimental designs are presented in Table 3 and the details are given in papers I-VII. The wood ash used in studies I-III, IV (experiment 1), VI and VII, was fly ash from burning of softwood (26%) and hardwood bark (66%). Fiber and mineral containing waste sludge (8%) from wastewater cleaning process of paper and pulp mill was also co-burned. A different wood ash was used in the long-term studies IV (experiment 2) and V. The element content of the ashes used in experiments is presented in paper IV.

In papers I and II, I used a laboratory microcosms approach to investigate the combined and separate effects of Cd and wood ash on the humus microflora and the Cd bioavailability. In addition, the effect of different forms (water-soluble CdCl₂ and insoluble CdO) and application levels of Cd (0, 400 and 1000 mg kg⁻¹ ash or pumice) were studied.

The objectives of paper III were to test in field conditions, if the Cd of wood ash has the potential to affect the coniferous forest humus microflora and if Cd becomes enriched in the food chain 1-4 years after fertilization. These objectives were tested with wood ash and wood ash spiked with extra Cd (400 mg kg⁻¹ ash) applied onto the forest floor. Cd concentrations of different compartments (humus, soil percolation water, mushrooms, fruits and leaves of berries, and needles) of the forest ecosystem were determined.

There were two aims for paper IV. The first aim was to compare the effects of loose and hardened ashes on humus layer microbes in the field 1-3 years after fertilization. This experiment was performed using two application levels of the ashes and repeated in two forest stands of different fertility. The second aim was to study the long-term effects of loose ash in four forest stands of different site fertility 18 years after ash application.

Field study V aimed to examine if the wood ash treatment is reflected in the decomposition rate of Scots pine needle litter and Scots pine stem volumes, and if wood ash affects the quality of the Scots pine needle litter, which is then reflected in the decomposition rate. To achieve these objectives the layout of our experiment was as follows: Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) needle litter samples from control plots and plots that had been fertilized with wood ash 19 years earlier were exposed in a reciprocal experimental design to detect the effects of ash fertilization and needle litter origin on the decomposition rate (Fig. 1 in V). The experimental design was repeated in two Scots pine forest stands of different fertility.

In paper VI, I tried to elucidate if simulated acid rain increases the leaching of Cd from wood ash and does it become bioavailable and harmful to co-

Study	Symbol	Ash dose t ha ⁻¹	Cd addition mg kg ⁻¹	Irrigation ⁴	Duration of ash treatment	Study type	Replicates	Site type of study/humus sample forest [°]	Location
I, II ^ª	Р	0	0	H,O	2 months	laboratory microcosm	10	EVT	64°43'N/26°02'E
	PLO		400	2		, " , "	5	"	"
	PHO		1000	"		"		"	"
	PLC		400	"		"		"	"
	PHC		1000	"		"		"	"
	А	5	10	"		"	10	"	"
	ALO		400	"		"	5	"	"
	AHO		1000	"	"	"		"	"
	ALC		400	"	"	"		"	"
	AHC		1000	"	"	"		"	"
Ш	С	0	0	natural conditions	I-4 years	field	3	"	"
	А	3	15	"		"		"	"
	ACd		400	"		"		"	"
IV	С	0	0		I-3 years	"	"	ECT, VMT	64°43'N/26°02'E, 65°01'N/25°07'E
	A3	3	15	"		"	"	"	"
	A9	9	"			"	"	"	"
	HA3	3	13	"		"	"	"	"
	HA9	9	"		"	"	"	"	"
	C-18	0	0	"	18 years	"	4	CT, VT, MT, OMT	62°03'N/24°51'E,62°16'N/24°20'E
	A3-18	3	ND	"		"	"	"	61°00'N/24°45'E, 61°02'N/24°39'E
V	С	0	0	"	19-20 years	"	"	CT, VT	62°03'N/24°51'E,62°16'N/24°20'E
	Α	3	ND	"	"	"	"	"	"
VI	С	0	0	H,O or H,SO₄ (=SAR)	3 months	field microcosm	"	MT	60° 07'N/23° 18'E
	Α	5	10	"		"	"	"	"
	ACd		1000			"	"	"	"
۷II	Control	0 or 5	0 or 15	H,O	2 months	field+laboratory microcosm	5	CT-VT	69°45'N/27°01'E
	Acid	"	"	" +H₂SO₄	"	"	"	"	"
	CuNi		"	" +CuSO₄+NiSO₄	"	"		"	"
	CuNi+Acid	"	"	$+H_{2}SO_{4}+CuSO_{4}+NiSO_{4}$	"	"	"	"	"

^a P = pumice, O = Cd form CdO, C = Cd form $CdCl_{2,b}$ A = loose wood ash, HA = hardened wood ash, study IV comprises short- and long-term experiments, experiment I (1-3 years) and 2 (18 years), respectively; ND = not determined; SAR = simulated acid rain; ^c Humus from field was collected after 9 years exposure to acid and/or metal irrigation. Remediation study with wood ash done in laboratory microcosms; ^d In all studies, the irrigation were done at 2- to 3-days intervals; ^eEV=*Empetrum-Vaccinium*, EC=*Empetrum-Calluna*, VM=*Vaccinium*. *Nyrtillus*, C=*Calluna*, V=*Vaccinium*, M=*Myrtillus*, OM=*Oxalis*-*Myrtillus*.

niferous humus microbes. The effect of Cd spiked into the ash (1000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ash) in response to the treatments was also determined. The simulated acid rain (SAR; pH 3.1) plots received a sulphur load of 3.64 g S m⁻², which was 15 times more than the S deposition on the water irrigated control plots.

In paper VII, I have assessed the effects of moderate amounts of continuous acid and Cu-Ni deposition on humus layer microbial community in the field after nine growing seasons. To determine whether these contaminated soils could be remediated, samples from the field were placed in laboratory microcosms and water irrigation combined with wood ash fertilization remediation treatment was evaluated. Microcosms that were only irrigated with water served as a control. The cumulative S, Cu and Ni load over the period 1991 – 2000 were for the CuNi plots 1220, 160 and 100 mg m⁻², and for CuNi+Acid plots 18 860, 160 and 100. The cumulative S load for the Control and Acid plots was 1080 and 18730 mg m⁻², respectively. The pH values for the irrigation in Control, Acid and CuNi plots were 5.5, 3.1 and 5.7, respectively.

3.2 Samplings

In all the studies, samples were taken from the organic, humus (F/H) layer, hereafter referred to as soil samples. At least 21 cores (usually 40 mm in diameter) were taken; that is, seven cores from three lines, and then combined to form one composite, bulk sample. The samples were sieved (2.8 mm mesh), visible plant material was removed, and then stored at $+4^{\circ}$ C before analyses were conducted.

In paper III, the wood ash was spread on the study plots in autumn 1997. Soil samples were collected in August 1998, November 1999, September 2000 and 2001. In addition needle (Pinus sylvestris L.), berry (Empetrum nigrum, Vaccinium uliginosum, Vaccinium vitis-idaea) and mushroom (Lactarius rufus) samples were collected. P. sylvestris needles from the previous year were collected each autumn, always from eight trees and bulked to make composite sample for the plot. Unfortunately, it was not possible to take an adequate mushroom and berry sample each year, that is, 6-20 mushroom specimens (upper half of stipe and cap) and 1.5 decilitres of berries per sample plot. Soil water was sampled with suction-cup lysimeters installed at depths of 5 and 20 cm below the soil mineral layer surface six times during the snow free period in 1998 and 2001, and seven times in 1999 and 2000. In 2000 also the leaves of V. uliginosum and V. vitis-idaea were collected from all over each study plot to form a composite sample of ca. two decilitres (over 2 g dry matter). Litterbags for mass loss determination were sampled in November 1999, 2000 and 2001 after 2, 3 and 4 years exposure in the field, respectively.

In paper IV, the wood ash in the short-term study (experiment 1) was spread in May-July 1997 and soil samples collected in August 1998, June 1999 and September 2000. In the long-term study (experiment 2), the wood ash was spread in July-August 1982 and soil samples collected in September 2000.

In paper V, the needle litterbags were retrieved in autumn of 2001 and 2002 after 4 and 16 months exposure in the field, respectively. Scots pine stem volumes were measured in autumn 1998 (ash was spread in July-August 1982).

3.3 Methods

The various methods used are listed in Table 4. A brief summary is given here; for details refer to papers I-VII. Soil pH was measured in a water suspension. Soil dry matter weight was determined after drying at 105°C and organic matter content determined after furnacing subsamples at 550°C. Total organic carbon and nitrogen content were determined by dry combustion. Total and extractable contents of elements were determined with ICP-AES. In paper III, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations in soil water was determined with a TOC analyser and NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ concentrations determined with a flow injection analyser. Concentrations of Ca and Cd in soil water were analysed by ICP-AES. After collection of the mushroom, berry, leaf and needle samples (III), they were cleaned, air dried and concentrations of Ca and Cd determined by ICP-AES after wet digestion (HNO₃+H₂O₂).

Bioavailability of Cd (extraction with deionized water) and Cu (extraction with 50 mM CaCl₂) to bacteria in the air dried soil were determined with two biosensor bacteria that emit light specifically in the presence of Cd or Cu. The enumeration of culturable bacteria was done on agar nutrient plates. Colony forming units (cfu) were counted after 12 days of incubation in darkness at room temperature. Bacterial Cd tolerance was also estimated on nutrient agar plates to which 5 or 20 mg Cd per liter (as CdCl₂ x 2.5 H₂O) was added.

Microbial activities measurements were basal respiration, [³H]-thymidine incorporation and needle mass loss rates. Basal respiration rates were determined as the amount of CO₂-C evolved over 23-26 h. Bacterial growth rate and Cd tolerance were determined using the [³H]-thymidine incorporation technique. For the bacterial growth rate, the bacterial cells were extracted from soil, after sample homogenization and centrifugation. In the Cd tolerance assay, different amounts of CdCl₂ were added to the bacterial suspension. The Cd concentration (mM) giving a 50% (or 30%) reduction in [³H]-thymidine incorporation was calculated (IC₅₀ or IC₃₀). The higher the IC₅₀ value, the greater is the tolerance of the bacterial community to Cd. In the determination of the mass loss rate of needles in the papers III and V, the contents of needles remaining in the litterbags were weighed.

The microbial community profiling analyzes were made using the Biolog[®], phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) method, and 16S or 18S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) targeted single step polymerase chain reaction-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (PCR-DGGE). The Biolog[®] technique used in paper I deter-

Analysis	Method	Used in study	Reference
Total Cd in humus ^a	wet digestion, HNO,+H,O, extraction	I, II, III, VI	Tamminen and Starr 1990
Extractable Cd in humus ^b	I.0 M CH,COONH, extraction (pH 7.0) ^C	I, III, VI	Tamminen and Starr 1990
Bioavailability of Cd to bacteria	Bioluminescence of <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> BR 151/pTOO24	II, III, VI	Young et al. 1969, Tauriainen et al. 1998
Bioavailability of Cu to bacteria	Bioluminescence of Pseudomonas fluorescens DF57-Cu15	VII	Tom-Petersen et al. 2001
Microbial activity	CO, evolution	I, III, IV, VI, VII	Pietikäinen and Fritze 1995
Mass loss of needles	litter bags	III, V	
Bacterial growth rate	[³ H]-thymidine incorporation	I, III	Bååth 1992a, Kiikkilä et al. 2000
Cd tolerance of bacteria	[³ H]-thymidine incorporation	I, III	Bååth 1992b, Kiikkilä et al. 2000
Cd tolerance of bacteria	cfu	I	
CLPP	Biolog EcoPlates	I	Insam 1997
Microbial community structure	PLFA pattern	I, III, IV, VI, VII	Frostegård et al. 1993b, Pennanen et al. 1999
Bacterial community structure	PCR-DGGE, primer pair F984GC+R1378	VI	Heuer et al. 1997
Fungal community structure	PCR-DGGE, primer pair FF390+FRIGC ^d	II, VI, VII	Vainio and Hantula 2000, Pennanen et al. 2001
Total microbial biomass	PLFA analysis	I, III, IV, VI, VII	Frostegård and Bååth 1996
Bacterial biomass	PLFA analysis	I, III, IV, VI, VII	Frostegård and Bååth 1996
Fungal biomass	PLFA analysis	I, III, IV, VI, VII	Frostegård and Bååth 1996

I

For the closer description of materials and methods, see papers I-VII

cfu

a, b) Other elements (Ca, Mg, K, Al, Cu and Ni) were also analyzed with these methods; c) In study VI, 0.1 M BaCl, extraction was used; d) In study II primer pair NSI+FRIGC was also used; cfu = colony forming units; CLPP = community level physiological profiling; PLFA = phospholipid fatty acid; PCR = polymerase chain reaction; DGGE = denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis; F = forward primer, R = reverse primer, GC = G+C rich sequence attached at 5' end.

Culturable bacteria

mines the community level physiological profile (= CLPP), that is, substrate utilization potential, of the bacterial community. The EcoPlates used contained 31 different carbon sources and they were inoculated with 10-3 diluted soil suspension. The EcoPlates were incubated at 20°C and the absorbances read every day until the 120 h was reached. The PLFA method was used to detect changes in microbial community structure. Lipids were extracted from the soil with a one-phase mixture (1:2:0.8 v/v/v) of chloroform, methanol and citrate buffer (0.15 M, pH 4.0), and fractionated into neutral, glyco- and phospholipids on a silicic acid column. By using nonadecanoate (19:0) as an internal standard the total amount of PLFAs in the soil sample were calculated and this value used as an indicator of soil total microbial biomass (PLFA_{tot}). The sum of PLFAs i15:0, a15:0, 15:0, i16:0, 16:1ω9, 16:1ω7t, i17:0, a17:0, 17:0, cy17:0, 18:1ω7 and cy19:0 was used as an index of bacterial biomass (PLFA_{bact}) and the quantity of 18:2 ω 6 was used as an indicator of fungal biomass (PLFA_{fune}). The Biolog[®] and PLFA methods target mainly bacteria. Treatment-induced changes in fungal community were detected using fungal 390 (II, VI, VII) or 1650 (II) basepair (bp) rDNA fragment (18S) DGGE patterns. Bacterial 434 bp rDNA fragment (16S) DGGE patterns were also used to detect changes in bacterial community in paper VI. The advantage of both the PCR-DGGE and PLFA methods is that they do not rely on the culturability of the microbes.

3.4 Data analyses

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the effects of different treatments. In ANOVA the differences between variable means were tested using Tukey's (II, V) or LSD (III, IV, VI) test. Differences between means were considered statistically significant when p < 0.05 (I, II, V, VI) or p < 0.10 (III, VII). The mol % and area % values from the PLFA (I, III, VI, VII) and Biolog[®] data (I), respectively, were standardised by dividing by the standard deviation (correlation matrix) before being subjected to principal component analysis (PCA). In paper IV, the PLFA pattern was explored with global non-metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) (Clarke 1999). In paper VI MDS was used to analyse the data matrix of DGGE gel bands. In papers II and VI the Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA followed by a mean ranks test was performed for the biosensor data because the assumptions of normal distribution and equality of variances were not met. Canonical correlation analysis (CCA) (Gittins 1985) was used to investigate the relationships between chemical and biological variables (III, IV). The scores from PCA and CCA were also tested with ANOVA. The data were log-transformed where necessary. Pearson correlation tests were used to evaluate the relationships between some individual variables. The software used for ANOVA, PCA and CCA were Statistix 7 (Analytical Software 2000), PC-ORD version 4 (MjM Software Design 1999) and SAS (Institute Inc. 1996), respectively.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Cd effects on forest soil microbes

The addition of Cd to the soil can disturb the nutrient cycling of forest ecosystems because of its potential toxic effects on microbes. Cadmium amendments have been shown to inhibit phosphatase, sulphatase and respiration activities (Speir et al. 1999), change microbial community structure (Frostegård et al. 1993b) and reduce microbial biomass (Frostegård et al. 1993b) and dehydrogenase activity (Welp 1999). Cadmium concentrations as low as 1-5 mg Cd kg⁻¹ humus have been found to inhibit the activity and change the community structure of forest soil microbes (see review by Bååth 1989). Microbes have been shown to have a number of mechanisms to prevent Cd toxicity, including the exclusion of Cd by an energy-dependent pump situated in the cell membranes of resistant stains and the production of Cd-binding proteins in microbes that accumulate Cd (Trevors et al. 1986).

In order to estimate the possible effect of Cd not associated with ash, Cd with pumice was spread onto the soil (I, II). Pumice proved to be an ideal agent to distribute the small amounts of Cd evenly over the soil surface, because it has no effects on the microbes or pH of the soil compared to untreated soil (I). The different forms of Cd (CdO vs. CdCl₂) had no effect on the soil respiration rate, but the level of Cd applied (0, 400 or 1000 mg kg⁻¹ pumice) influenced the respiration rate. The highest application of Cd (5 t pumice ha⁻¹ of 1000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ pumice) decreased respiration rates compared to lower Cd levels (I; Fig. 1a, page 34). The form and level of Cd had no effect on the bacterial growth rates, bacterial and fungal biomasses, culturable bacteria, tolerance of the bacterial community to Cd measured with thymidine incorporation or with a more conventional cfu method (I). Neither did the substrate utilisation pattern of bacterial community (I; Biolog[®]) nor fungal community structure (II; PCR-DGGE) change.

When Yrjälä et al. (2004) analyzed the *Archaea* community from paper I microcosm soil with the PCR-DGGE method, they detected no Cd effect. Neither did Cd have an effect on community structure of *Actinomycetes* (unpublished result). Díaz-Raviña et al. (1994) tested the development of community tolerance to Cd (added as CdSO₄) in agricultural soil over a 5- to 8-month incubation period. The addition of 896 mg Cd kg⁻¹ dry soil resulted in the development of a Cd-tolerant community, whereas the addition of 448 mg Cd kg⁻¹ dry soil gave minor differences compared to the unpolluted control. In paper I the addition of Cd with pumice to the soil surface at the highest doses, resulted in the amount of Cd to 171 mg kg⁻¹ and 182 mg kg⁻¹ soil for CdO and CdCl₂, respectively. These levels did not exceed the threshold level needed to induce tolerance of the bacterial community to Cd.

The addition of Cd with pumice altered the microbial community structure as detected by the changed PLFA pattern (I; Fig. 1a, page 34). The ANOVA performed on the PC1 scores of principal component analysis (PCA), using the PLFA data, revealed that the high Cd (added as CdCl₂) treatment differed significantly from the other treatments, including the control, and the scores correlated significantly (r = 0.58) with the total amount of Cd in the soil. The relative mol % of the methylated PLFAs increased with increasing Cd concentration. Fatty acids with a methyl group in the tenth carbon atom from carboxyl end of the chain (10Me16:0, 10Me17:0, 10Me18:0) are found exclusively in actinomycetes (Kroppenstedt 1985). Thus, the result of paper I suggests that Cd application caused a relative increase in the number of actinomycetes. In contrast, the relative mol % of PLFAs 18:2w6 and 20:4, which are found in fungi (Frostegård and Bååth 1996, Stahl and Klug 1996), decreased as a result of Cd addition. The changes observed in the PLFA pattern of the pumiced samples due to Cd addition are consistent with the results of Frostegård et al. (1993b). At the beginning of a 6-month incubation they added solutions of $CdSO_4$ to humus layer samples to give comparable Cd concentrations (56, 112) and 224 mg kg⁻¹ dry humus) to those used in study I (≤ 182 mg kg⁻¹ dry humus).

In all soil samples treated with Cd spiked pumice, the *Bacillus subtilis* biosensor detected an increased amount of bioavailable Cd when compared to the unspiked pumice controls (II; Fig 1a, page 34). The biosensor detected significantly higher Cd amounts in the soil of the PHC and PHO treatments than in the PLC and PLO treatments. The highest amount of bioavailable Cd ($20.2 \pm$ 1.0 (SE) mg Cd kg⁻¹ soil) was detected in the PHC treatment. The percentage of bioavailable Cd in soil was only 4.7–11% of the total Cd content. In general, a higher availability of Cd was detected in the soil samples that received the water soluble form of Cd, but the difference between PHC and PHO, and between PLC and PLO, were statistically insignificant.

In conclusion, both Cd application levels (400 and 1000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ pumice) increased the amount of bioavailable Cd to bacteria, and highest Cd application level (both CdO and CdCl₂) reduced the microbial mineralization activity measured as respiration rate. In addition, the highest application of water soluble Cd changed the microbial community structure measured with PLFA method.

4.2 Wood ash effects on forest soil microbes

The application of ash increased soil pH (I-IV, VI-VII). The pH effect of the ash increased microbial activities as measured by soil respiration (I; Fig. 1a, III; Fig. 1b, IV, VI, VII) and thymidine incorporation rates (I, III). These results are in accordance with investigations where higher soil respiration (Bååth and Arnebrant 1994, Fritze et al. 1994b, Khanna et al. 1994, Fritze et al. 1995) and



Fig. 1. Respiration rates, PLFA patterns and reactions of Cd-biosensors in the studies I-II (a) and III (b). In study III, the majority of samples exhibited bioavailable Cd-levels below the reliable quantification level and the induction coefficients were not transformed to Cd concentrations. Bars indicate standard error. See Table 3 for treatment symbols.

thymidine incorporation rate (Bååth and Arnebrant 1994, Bååth et al. 1995, Hagerberg and Wallander 2002) were detected after ash fertilization. According to Khanna et al. (1994), much of the respired C is derived from soil sources rather than the C added in the ash. In many studies, wood ash fertilization resulted in increased soil water dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations (see chapter 1.2.1), which could act as a source of carbon for microbes and explain the rise in respiration and thymidine incorporation.

In accordance with the activity measurements, the number of culturable bacteria also increased (I). Similar increase in cfu values due to wood ash fertilization at levels of 5 t ha⁻¹ have been reported for coniferous forest humus by Bååth and Arnebrant (1994). The increased microbial activity of the ash treated samples was also accompanied by a change in the bacterial substrate utilisation pattern (I; Biolog[®]), and in the microbial (I; Fig. 1a, III; Fig. 1b, IV, VI, VII; PLFA), bacterial (VI; PCR-DGGE), fungal (II, VI; PCR-DGGE), archaeal (Yrjälä et al. 2004) and actinomycetal (unpublished result) community structure.

The Biolog[®] results revealed that the bacterial community in the ash treated soil was able to use other C sources compared to the bacteria community in the pumice treated samples (I). The ash application was therefore great enough to change the microbial community structure (PLFA) to such an extent that different subsets of the bacterial community became enriched in the Biolog[®] plate, being capable of utilizing different C-sources than the subsets of the untreated or pumiced soil samples (I).

A change in the PLFA pattern due to increased humus pH has been demonstrated earlier in an area subjected to alkaline pollution (Bååth et al. 1992), forest liming (Frostegård et al. 1993a) and wood ash fertilization (Frostegård et al. 1993a, Bååth et al. 1995). In a 3-year field mesocosm study by Liiri et al. (2002b), wood ash treatment changed the microbial PLFA and bacterial substrate utilization pattern. Changes in humus quality with increasing ash fertilization levels have been measured using infrared spectroscopy (Bååth et al. 1995). These authors showed that the humus quality changed but were only partly successful in their attempts to correlate the changes in the PLFA pattern with soil pH or substrate quality. Consequently, they concluded that changes in the PLFA pattern of the soil organisms were related to an altered substrate quantity (availability of substrates), quality and pH.

The results from paper VII showed a slight increase in the abundance of actinomycetes (indicator PLFAs 10Me16:0, 10Me17:0 and 10Me18:0 see chapter 4.1) and decrease that of fungi (indicator PLFA 18:2 ω 6) following ash fertilization. Similar changes in fungal and actinomycetal PLFAs after wood ash treatment in the microcosm experiment were found in paper I. In the field studies by Frostegård et al. (1993a), Bååth et al. (1995), III and IV, the amount of indicator PLFA (16:1 ω 5) for arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM) fungi increased after ash application. In these field studies the amount of PLFAs 10Me16:0 and 18:2 ω 6 either decreased or did not change, and that of PLFAs 10Me17:0 and 10Me18:0 either increased or did not change. However, in the long-term study

IV (experiment 2) the abundance of fungal PLFA increased, and that of PLFAs 10Me16:0 and 10Me17:0 decreased in the wood ash treated plots. The most striking difference between the results from these field studies and microcosm studies I and VII was that the amount of the fatty acid 16:1 ω 5 decreased after ash amendment in microcosm studies. One explanation for this difference may be related to the absence of plants in microcosms. Herbs and grasses thrive after ash fertilization (see chapter 1.2.2) and the amount of fatty acid 16:1 ω 5 increases when the amount of herbs and grasses increase (Pennanen et al. 1999, Saetre and Bååth 2000).

The results of bacterial and fungal biomass measurements in this thesis, were not consistent with each other. Mean bacterial (I, IV (experiment 1); $PLFA_{bact}$) and fungal (I, IV (experiment 1), VI; $PLFA_{fung}$) biomasses either decreased or did not react to wood ash treatment (VI; $PLFA_{bact}$, III, IV (experiment 2),VII). These kinds of contradictory results have also been observed by others. For example, Bååth et al. (1995) observed a decrease in bacterial and fungal biomasses in a field study with ash treatment, but Frostegård et al. (1993a) did not find a significant ash effect on bacterial and fungal biomasses.

In papers II and VI, fungal 18 S rDNA primer pair detected an ash effect but in paper VII no ash effect on fungal community was detected. It can be argued that at the time of sampling these fungal species were the most dominant growing. The fungal species diversity as indicated by spores is probably not detected by the PCR-DGGE method. In a soil microfungal study (Fritze and Bååth 1993), the fungal species composition growing on agar plates was not different if the isolation was performed from vegetative hyphaea or from the spores. Microcosms in papers II, VI and VII did not include plant seedlings and, thus mycorrhizal fungi were probably excluded, leaving only saprophytic fungi that could be detected. Using isolation techniques it has been shown that ash fertilization (Bååth and Arnebrant 1993) and fly ash deposition (Fritze and Bååth 1993) changes the composition of the microfungal flora inhabiting the humus layer. The same conclusion was obtained by using the PCR-DGGE method (II, VI).

Experiment 1 of paper IV compared two forms, loose and hardened wood ash (abbreviations A and HA, respectively) at two fertilization levels, 3 and 9 tons per hectare (these numbers follow the abbreviations). The results showed that ash of both types decreased soil extractable Al, increased soil pH and exchangeable base cation concentrations; reactions to ash amendment that have been widely reported in the literature (see chapter 1.2.1). Hardened ash did not have as strong effects on above-mentioned soil properties as loose ash did. Increase in soil extractable Ca and Mg concentrations was dependent on the dose and form of the ash applied, with A9 treatment having the highest values, followed by HA9 and A3, and then the HA3 treatment (IV; experiment 1).The lowered leaching rate of base cations due to hardening has also been confirmed in laboratory studies by Eriksson (1998b) and Ring et al. (1999). The hardening of ash by granulation helps avoid the rapid dissolution of the ash and thereby avoiding drastic increases in humus pH (Eriksson 1998b), burning

damage to mosses (Kellner and Weibull 1998) and changes in the coverage of fungi and vascular plants (Rühling 1996). However, the nutritional response with hardened, granulated and pelletized wood ash on the forest vegetation was found to be similar to that with loose wood ash (Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Hytönen 2003).

Due to its slower dissolution rate the effects of hardened ash on soil microbes may be expected to be less than loose ash. Both multivariate statistical approaches supported the above hypothesis. The canonical correlation analysis (CCA) separated the ash treatments according to the form and level of ash used. The vectors that best explained the separation of the treatments were increases in bacterial growth rate, microbial respiration activity, and soil extractable Ca concentration (Fig. 2 in IV). The A9 treatment that has highest values for these variables separated from other treatments. Treatments A3 and HA9, and HA3 and C clustered into same group. The multidimensional scaling (MDS) procedure, using the eluted phospholipid fatty acids (PLFAs) data, separated the A9 treatment from the other treatments from the first year onwards. In the third year, the HA9 and the A3 treatment started to separate from the control and remained separated from the A9 treatment (Fig. 3 in IV).

The aim of experiment 2 in paper IV was to estimate the duration of the ash effect on upland soil microbes. The fact that the microbial community structure (PLFA pattern) and activity (respiration and thymidine incorporation rates) were still different from the control after 18 years of ash fertilization points toward a very long-term effect of wood ash on soil microbes. However, there were no clear long-term ash effect on the biomass indicators except that the PLFA_{fung}/PLFA_{bact} ratio was slightly higher in the ash treated (A3-18) than in the control plots (C-18). The CCA separated the old ash plots according to microbial activity (respiration and thymidine incorporation rates) and soil extractable Ca concentration that are the same variables as in the short-term field experiments in papers III (see chapter 4.3 below) and IV. These findings provide new information about the longer-term effects of wood ash on upland forest soil microbes. Previous studies have only studied these effects for short time periods of 1-6 years after application.

One of the oldest documented ash fertilization trial in Finland was performed in a forest growing on peat and therefore not directly comparable to study IV. The trial on peat (no treatment replications) showed elevated peat pH (Silfverberg and Huikari 1985), Scots pine stem volume growth and decomposition rate of cellulose strips (Moilanen et al. 2002) after 30, 47 and 50 years of fertilization, respectively, with rather high amounts of loose ash (8 and 16 t ha⁻¹). In study IV humus pH (highest difference between pH of C-18 and A3-18 plots was 1.2 units) was also an important discriminating variable in the CCA. From these results one can speculate that the microbiological effects of loose ash on upland soil can persist for 50 years, and the effects of hardened ash can persist for longer.

The needle decomposition experiment in paper V was performed on the same sites as in paper IV that had been treated with wood ash 19-20 years ear-

lier. The litterbags were retrieved after 4 and 16 months. The loss of needles mass was significantly larger on the ash treated plots than on control plots. The increased microbial activity and the changed microbial community structure shown in paper IV were thus reflected in enhanced needle decomposition. On drained peatland sites, Silfverberg and Hotanen (1989) have observed a similar increase in needle decomposition rate as a result of long-term ash effects. However, in a 4-year long field study III, no significant increase in the mass loss of needles was detected although rise in respiration and thymidine incorporation rates were detected. It is difficult to explain the lack of a wood ash effect on the mass loss of needles. Most likely, the time was not too short for a fertilization effect to occur, because Smolander et al. (1996) found increased mass loss of Scots pine needle litter on study plots fertilized with wood ash (2.5 t ha⁻¹) only 8 months prior to the start of the decomposition experiment. One possible explanation could be the unfavourable quality of needles in study III.

The ash fertilization induced changes in the ecosystem may be reflected in the quality of the coniferous trees needles. In both sites in paper V, needles originating from the ash fertilized plots had lower C-to-N ratios. The origin, and thus the quality of needles, did not significantly influence the decomposition rate although ash needles exposed on ash plots (AA) had a slightly higher decomposition rate than control needles exposed on ash plots (CA) during the first 4 months (Fig. 2 in V). Further details about the quality of needles on the decomposition rate are discussed in paper V.

Scots pine stem volumes increased due to ash fertilization (V). The enhancing effect of ash fertilization on both needle mass loss and tree growth was more pronounced in the less fertile CT than the VT site. This difference was accompanied by a significant increase in concentrations of P in the humus layer of CT site. Phosphorus and especially N deficiency is quite common in Finnish tree stands growing on mineral soils, and B deficiency also sometimes occurs (Raitio et al. 2000). Humus layer N concentrations did not respond to wood ash fertilization and the amount of B was not analyzed. Usually, in contradiction to the findings in study V, the effect of wood ash fertilization on the growth of coniferous trees on mineral soils has been insignificant (see chapter 1.2.3.1). However, Tamminen (1998) did observe an increase in the height growth of 8-15-years old Scot pines 2-5 years after wood ash fertilization (3 t ha⁻¹).

One negative effect following wood ash application was the increase in NO_3^- concentrations in the soil water sampled from the ash treated plots (A) at 0.2 m depth (III). This increase in NO_3^- concentrations could be due to an increase in the nitrification rate in response to the increased soil pH (Martikainen 1984, Khanna et al. 1994, Paavolainen and Smolander 1998, Priha and Smolander 1999). Kahl et al. (1996) and Ludwig et al. (2002) also observed increased NO_3^- leaching after wood ash application on sandy soil. Increased NO_3^- leaching after ash application, however, is not a rule since many other wood ash studies have not detected it (see chapter 1.2.1).

In conclusion, the microbiological variables that responded to wood ash fertilization were: respiration and thymidine incorporation rates, cfu values, substrate utilisation pattern of the bacterial community, and the structure of microbial, bacterial and fungal communities. In some studies, fungal and bacterial biomasses have also decreased. In the field studies, the activity measurements reacted earlier (1-3 years after ash treatment) than community structure changes (3-4 years after ash treatment) and the response did not differ between forest site types. The degree of change on the measured soil chemical and microbial properties depended on the time since application and the level and form of ash applied. Increased soil microbial activity and changed community structure were still detected 18 years after wood ash treatment and Scots pine needles on treated sites decomposed faster 20 years after treatment.

4.3 Wood ash Cd effects on forest soil microbes

Cadmium in unspiked or Cd spiked wood ash had no significant effect on respiration (I; Fig. 1a, III; Fig. 1b) and thymidine incorporation rates (I, III), needle litter weight loss (III), cfu counts (I), total (PLFA_{tot}), bacterial (PLFA_{bact}) and fungal (PLFA_{fung}) biomasses (I, III) or on the substrate utilisation pattern of the bacterial community (I), or microbial (I; Fig. 1a, III; Fig. 1b), bacterial (VI), fungal (II, VI), archaeal (Yrjälä et al. 2004) and actinomycetal (unpublished result) community structure in the ash treated soil samples. Neither did the amount of bioavailable Cd to bacteria in the soil increase (II; Fig. 1a, III; Fig. 1b). The results of microcosm experiments reflected the same trends than the field experiment.

In study II, *Bacillus subtilis* biosensor values of Cd spiked ash treatments did not differ from their unspiked ash controls and the mean level of bioavailable Cd was 2.4 mg kg⁻¹ soil in all the ash treatments. Thus, the soil samples receiving pumice spiked with Cd (see chapter 4.1 above) had significantly higher amounts of bioavailable Cd than the ash treated samples. In study III, the total Cd concentrations in wood ash treated soil were about ten times lower than in the microcosms study II and the amount of bioavailable Cd to bacteria were in many samples below a reliable quantification level.

Fritze et al. (1995) have shown earlier that the soil respiration rate decrease when Cd is added to wood ash treated humus. Humus layer samples from a field experiment given 5 t ha⁻¹ of wood ash required more than 4000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ humus to decrease the respiration rate by 50 %, whereas the unfertilized control humus required 1570 mg Cd kg⁻¹ humus to reach the same degree of inhibition (Fritze et al. 1995). Their study indicated that wood ash can to some extent reduce the toxicity of Cd, but levels of Cd given were unnaturally high. The experiment performed in paper I, is in this respect more realistic because the Cd was first mixed with the wood ash to give a theoretical maximum level of 1000 mg Cd kg⁻¹ ash before spreading it onto the surface of the soil to imitate a fertilization load of 5 t ha⁻¹. Converting this to the amount of Cd per soil dry weight used in this experiment, 196 mg Cd kg⁻¹ humus entered the soil system. This was enough to reduce the soil respiration rate by 20 % in the absence of ash (see chapter 4.1 above). In the presence of ash, even the highest addition of Cd had no effect on soil respiration (I; Fig. 1a).

Principal component analysis (PCA) of the PLFAs separated, but not significantly, the Cd-treated ash samples from the untreated ash samples along the first PC (I; Fig. 1a). Actinomycetes (representative PLFAs 10Me16:0 and 10Me17:0), which benefited from the addition of ash or Cd alone, suffered from the combined effect of ash and Cd. The third methylated PLFA 10Me18:0 did not react markedly to the Cd treatments in the ash treated soil. Since the differences among the treatments were not statistically significant and the PCA axis 1 scores did not significantly correlate with the measured Cd concentration in the soil, it can be concluded that the presence of ash countered the toxic action of Cd on the microbial community. This was probably due to the capacity of the ash to adsorb the Cd and to increase soil pH. The hypothesis that wood ash can protect bacteria from Cd toxicity was supported by the finding that the treatment with just wood ash did not show the effects on Cd bioavailability, microbial respiration rate and community structure that the Cdalone treatment had.

Bacterial growth rate measured by the thymidine incorporation method in all ash treated samples was more sensitive to Cd additions than the pumice treated samples (I). On average, only 0.0023 (\pm 9.1 x 10⁻⁵) mM Cd (= 0.26 mg Cd l⁻¹) was needed to decrease the thymidine incorporation rate by 30%, whereas for the pumice treated samples 0.21 (\pm 2.6 x 10⁻²) mM Cd (= 24 mg Cd l-1) was required. This result indicated that the bacterial community of the ash treated soil, which was isolated into the water solution before the addition of Cd in the tolerance test, was more sensitive to external Cd than the respective bacterial community of the pumice treated controls. In the field study III, cadmium tolerance IC₅₀ values indicated an ash but not a Cd effect two and three years after wood ash addition. Indeed the bacteria in control soil were more tolerant to Cd than bacteria in the ash treated (A and ACd) soils. Thus, according to thymidine incorporation method, ash treatments did not induce bacterial tolerance to Cd. The bacteria that could be cultivated on nutrient media, however, reacted in the opposite (I). The addition of 5 mg Cd to 1 liter of nutrient agar decreased the cfu of the pumice treated samples by nearly 100%, whereas the cfu of the ash treated samples decreased by between 20 to 70%. The traditional plate count method supports the hypothesis that ash can protect bacteria from Cd toxicity. There are many possible reasons for the discrepancy between the results given by these two methods. One of them could be the different incubation times with external Cd that were used, 12 days in the plate count method and 2 hours in the thyminidine incorporation method. Thus, the thymidine incorporation method detects Cd-tolerance of fast growing bacteria and plate count method of slower growing bacteria. One can hypothesise that the decreased IC_{50} value may have been due to increases in bacterial growth rather than a decreased tolerance, since rapid growing bacteria are, in general, more sensitive to external disturbances.

In paper III, the chemical and microbiological data were summarised using a multivariate statistical approach (Canonical Correlation Analysis, CCA; Fig. 1 in III). Accordingly the A and ACd treatments started to separate from controls, but not from each other from the third year onwards. The higher Cd additions in the ACd treatment did not produce any effect on the microbiological and chemical variables differing from that produced by the ash only (A). This is verified by the fact that neither total nor extractable Cd levels were selected as key variables in the formation of the CCA. In contrast, the increase in soil pH, respiration and thymidine incorporation rates and concentrations of total and extractable Ca were selected as key variables that best explained the separation of treatments as they all increased due to wood ash treatment. In addition, the changes in PLFA pattern caused by wood ash affected the formation of the CCA.

In general, the liberation of Cd from different kind of ashes is low (Eriksson 1998b, Ring et al. 1999, Steenari et al. 1999, Richards et al. 2000, Ramesh and Koziñski 2001, Praharaj et al. 2002, Nieminen 2003). A laboratory study showed that solution pH has to be lower than 4.0 before Cd is released from wood ash (Hansen et al. 2001). Zhan et al. (1996) showed that, at solution pH values lower than 6.0, which are normal for rain water, there is a sharp increase in the amount of dissolved Cd from wood ash. Holmberg et al. (2000) showed that almost 15% of the Cd in wood ash granules leached during a 7 months exposure in the field. In paper III, the ACd and A treatments respectively added 128 and 4.5 mg Cd m⁻² to the forest floor, which theoretically could leach when the ash-induced increase in pH effect stops and pH declines. In the last sampling, that is four years after wood ash treatment, soil pH was 5.6 in A and 5.5 in ACd plots (III).

Little is known about the effect of acid rain on microbial function and community structure of the humus layer fertilized with wood ash. As acidic deposition is still a threat to the terrestrial environment (Alewell et al. 2000) and this could affect the liberation of Cd from the ash when applied to the forest. In paper VI, watering the microcosms in the field with simulated acid rain (SAR pH 3, H₂SO₄ acid, total 3.64 g S m⁻²) over the whole growing season decreased the soil pH but did not change the results achieved with water irrigation, that is, change in microbial, bacterial and fungal community structures due to wood ash application. Although there was probably a higher dissolution rate of the ash due to the SAR treatment, Cd in the wood ash was not liberated into bioavailable forms as measured with the biosensor *B. subtilis*. The higher dissolution of the ash induced a higher basal respiration rate.

Neither the Cd occurring naturally in wood ash nor that added to wood ash, had any effect on the measured microbial variables. In addition, irrigation with SAR and the level and form of added Cd had no effects. In conclusion, wood ash protected the microbes from the harmful effects of Cd.

4.4 Wood ash Cd transference into food chains

Cadmium may affect human health through carcinogenity, renal and bone effects, and diet is the main source of human exposure to Cd. There is a potential risk that Cd from wood ash enters into the human food chain directly through the eating of mushrooms and berries or indirectly through eating game animals. Ground water contaminated with Cd may also be a source.

The soil total and extractable Cd concentrations in the ACd plots increased, but the increases were not reflected in Cd concentrations in the soil water collected at 5 and 20 cm depth below the soil mineral layer surface or in the Cd concentration of berries and leaves of *Vaccinium uliginosum* and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* or *Pinus sylvestris* needles (III). In the study by Bramryd and Fransman (1995), wood ash fertilization did not increase EDTA-extractable Cd in the humus or mineral soil layers 10 years after application. A similar result was obtained by Arvidsson and Ludkvist (2003) 6 years after ash application. Wood ash treatment was also shown to not increase Cd concentrations in soil water (Ring et al. 1999), runoff water (brook) (Tulonen et al. 2002), ground water (Piirainen 2001) nor in Norway spruce needles (Arvidsson and Ludkvist 2002).

Higher Cd concentrations in the mushroom *Lactarius rufus* and in the berries of *Empetrum nigrum* growing on ash spiked with Cd treated plots was found in paper III. The Cd concentrations in *L. rufus* correlated with soil total (r = 0.90) and extractable (r = 0.84) Cd concentrations. This indicated that Cd could enter the human food chain. Even though the ACd treatment added 28 times more Cd to the soil than the A treatment, the Cd concentration in *L. rufus* was roughly only doubled.

There are few studies concerning Cd concentrations in edible mushrooms and berries after wood ash fertilization. The results from paper III described above are in accordance with the few such studies where the Cd concentrations in mushroom *L. rufus* (Rühling 1996, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Lodenius et al. 2002) and in berries (Silfverberg and Issakainen 1991, Levula et al. 2000, Rühling 1996, Moilanen and Issakainen 2000, Nilsson 2001) did not increase after wood ash treatment. Moilanen and Issakainen (2000) found, however, that Cd concentrations in *L. rufus* growing on one upland site 19 years after wood ash fertilization increased and on one peatland site it decreased significantly. Lodenius et al. (2002) reported an increase in Cd concentrations in mushroom *Russula emetica*, which is mordant but edible like *L. rufus*, 2 years after the wood ash treatment. Moilanen and Issakainen (2000) reported no change in Cd concentrations in the popular edible mushroom *Russula paludosa* (14 months after ash treatment) and *Lactarius trivialis* (13-52 years after ash treatment) on peatland.

In conclusion, wood ash fertilization did not increase the Cd concentrations in mushroom, berries or in soil water.

4.5 Wood ash as a potential remediation agent for acidified and metal polluted forest soil

Remediation of polluted soils aims to remove or immobilize the pollutants, making them less mobile and available for plants and microbiota. Because wood ash seemed to render the Cd added in wood ash unavailable (II, III, VI), the study VII aimed to test if ash has the same effect on other heavy metals (Cu and Ni). To determine whether samples of humus layer that had been exposed to continuous acid and Cu-Ni deposition for nine growing seasons could be remediated by treatment with wood ash, a microcosm laboratory experiment was carried out. Microcosms that were only irrigated with water served as a control. The wood ash treatment removed all the acid (decrease in pH and base saturation and increase in extractable and bioavailable copper concentrations (Fig. 2), and change in microbial PLFA pattern; (Fig. 1 in VII)) and metal (increase in extractable nickel concentrations, and change in microbial PLFA and fungal DGGE patterns) treatment effects observed in the field. The detoxifying effect of ash on Cu may be due to several mechanisms and they are speculated about in article VII.

In conclusion, it may be possible to use wood ash to remediate acid and metal polluted upland forest sites. Its use should be tested on the polluted soils in the surroundings of industrial smelting plants.



Fig. 2. The amount of bioavailable copper measured with the Cu-sensor *Pseudomonas fluorencens* of the study plots. Bars indicate standard error. See Table 3 for treatment symbols.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Spiking wood ash with Cd at levels that exceed the natural concentrations did not cause harm to forest soil microbes, although Cd addition without ash did. In addition, Cd added with wood ash was not in the bioavailable form, but part of the Cd added without ash was bioavailable to bacteria. Ash thus counteracted the toxic effect of Cd. It can therefore be concluded that the much lower Cd content of the wood ash itself would have no harmful effect on humus layer microflora. A potential risk for Cd to enter the human food chain is through uptake and concentration in mushrooms and berries which was only observed when Cd was added to the ash at unnaturally high levels. The effects of wood ash on soil microbes appeared to be long lasting, with increased needle litter decomposition still detectable 20 years after ash fertilization. The hardening of ash decreased its dissolution rate and therefore hardened ash effects on soil chemical and microbial variables were not as strong as loose ash. Increasing the rate of ash dissolution with simulated acid rain did not increase the bioavailability of Cd to bacteria in the humus layer. The benefits of wood ash fertilization (increase in soil pH and mineral nutrient contents) to microbes, plants and trees far outweigh any risk of the Cd in the ash having harmful effects on the humus microflora or entering the human food chain. However, since wood ash contains between $1 - 30 \text{ mg Cd kg}^{-1}$ ash, it would be prudent not to apply ash more than once during a tree generation in the same site, as there remains the possibility that the Cd could be released after the effect of ash on pH levels off. In addition, wood ash can be used for remediation of acid and metal polluted humus due to its capacity to adsorb metals and increase soil pH.

REFERENCES

- Aldén L., Demoling F., Bååth E. 2001. Rapid method of determining factors limiting bacterial growth in soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67, 1830-1838.
- Alewell C., Manderscheid B., Meesenburg H., Bittersohl J. 2000. Is acidification still an ecological threat? Nature 407, 856-857.
- Arvidsson H. 2001. Wood ash application in spruce stands Effects on ground vegetation, tree nutrient status and soil chemistry. PhD-thesis. Department of Ecology and Environmental Research, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Arvidsson H., Lundkvist H. 2002. Needle chemistry in young Norway spruce stands after application of crushed wood ash. Plant and Soil 238, 159-174.
- Arvidsson H., Lundkvist H. 2003. Effects of crushed wood ash on soil chemistry in young Norway spruce stands. Forest Ecology and Management 176, 121-132.
- Arvidsson H., Vestin T., Lundkvist H. 2002. Effects of crushed wood ash application on ground vegetation in young Norway spruce stands. Forest Ecology and Management 161, 75-87.
- Bååth E. 1989. Effects of heavy metals in soil on microbial processes and populations (a review). Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 47, 335-379.
- Bååth E. 1992a. Thymidine incorporation into macromolecules of bacteria extracted from soil by homogenisation-centrifugation. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 24, 1157-1165.
- Bååth E. 1992b. Measurement of heavy metal tolerance of soil bacteria using thymidine incorporation into bacteria extracted after homogenization-centrifugation. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 24, 1167-1172.
- Bååth E., Arnebrant K. 1993. Microfungi in coniferous forest soils treated with lime or wood ash. Biology and Fertility of Soils 15, 91-95.
- Bååth E., Arnebrant K. 1994. Growth rate and response of bacterial communities to pH in limed and ash treated forest soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 26, 995-1001.
- Bååth E., Frostegård Å., Fritze H. 1992. Soil bacterial biomass, activity, phospholipid fatty acid pattern, and pH tolerance in an area polluted with alkaline dust deposition. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58, 4026-4031.
- Bååth E., Frostegård Å., Pennanen T., Fritze H. 1995. Microbial community structure and pH response in relation to soil organic matter quality in wood-ash fertilized, clear-cut or burned coniferous forest soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 27, 229-240.
- Bååth E., Díaz-Raviña M., Frostegård Å., Cambell C.D. 1998. Effect of metal-rich sludge amendments on the soil microbial community. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64, 238-245.
- Bramryd T., Fransman B. 1995. Silvicultural use of wood ashes effects on the N nutrient and heavy metal balance in a pine (*Pinus sylvestris*, *L*) forest soil. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 85, 1039-1044.
- Bundt M., Krauss M., Blaser P., Wilcke W. 2001. Forest fertilization with wood ash: effect on the distribution and storage of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Journal of Environmental Quality 30, 1296-1304.
- Chalot M., Brun A. 1998. Physiology of organic nitrogen acquisition by ectomycorrhizal fungi and ectomycorrhizas. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 22, 21-44.
- Chirenje T., Rivero C., Ma L.Q. 2002. Leachability of Cu and Ni in wood ash-amended soil as impacted by humic and fulvic acid. Geoderma 108, 31-47.
- Clarholm M. 1998. Wood ash to counteract potential phosphorus and potassium limitations in a Norway spruce forest subjected to air pollution. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 67-75.
- Clarke K.R. 1999. Nonmetric multivariate analysis in community level ecotoxicology. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 18, 118-127.

- Demeyer A., Voundi Nkana J.C., Verloo M.G. 2001. Characteristics of wood ash and influence on soil properties and nutrient uptake: an overview. Bioresource Technology 77, 287-295.
- Díaz-Raviña M., Bååth E., Frostegård Å. 1994. Multiple heavy metal tolerance of soil bacterial communities and its measurement by a thymidine incorporation technique. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 2238-2247.
- Edsberg E. 2000. The quantitative influence of enchytraeids (Oligochaeta) and microarthropods on decomposition of coniferous raw humus in microcosms. Pedobiologia 44, 132-147.
- Eriksson H. 1998a. Short-term effects of granulated wood ash on forest soil chemistry in SW and NE Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 43-55.
- Eriksson H., Nilsson T., Nordin A. 1998. Early effects of lime and hardened and nonhardened ashes on pH and electrical conductivity of the forest floor, and relations to some ash and lime qualities. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 56-66.
- Eriksson J. 1998b. Dissolution of hardened wood ashes in forest Soils: Studies in a column experiment. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 23-32.
- Erland S., Söderström B. 1991. Effects of lime and ash treatments on ectomycorrhizal infection of *Pinus sylvestris* L. seedlings planted in a pine forest. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 6, 519-525.
- Faber J.H., Verhoef H.A. 1991. Functional differences between closely-related soil arthropods with respect to decomposition processes in the presence or absence of pine tree roots. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 23, 15-23.
- Federle T.W. 1986. Microbial distribution in soil new techniques. In: Megusar F., Gantar M. (Eds.), Perspectives in Microbial Ecology: Proceedings of the Fourth International Symposium on Microbial Ecology, Ljubljana 24-29 August 1986, Slovene Society for Microbiology, Ljubljana, pp. 493-498.
- Ferm A., Hokkanen T., Moilanen M., Issakainen, J. 1992. Effects of wood bark ash on the growth and nutrition of a Scots pine afforestation in central Finland. Plant and Soil 147, 305-316.
- Finlay R.D., Söderström B. 1989. Mycorrhizal mycelia and their role in soil and plant communities. In: Clarholm M., Bergström L. (Eds), Developments in Plant and Soil Sciences Vol. 39. Ecology of Arable Land - Perspectives and Challenges, Kluwer Academic Publishers, London, pp. 139-148.
- France R.C., Reid C.P.P. 1983. Interactions of nitrogen and carbon in the physiology of ectomycorrhizae. Canadian Journal of Botany 61, 964-984.
- Fransman B., Nihlgård B. 1995. Water chemistry in forested catchments after topsoil treatment with liming agents in South Sweden. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 85, 895-900.
- Fransson A.-M., Bergkvist B., Tyler G. 1999. Phosphorus solubility in an acid forest soil as influenced by form of applied phosphorus and liming. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 14, 538-544.
- Fritze H, Bååth E. 1993. Microfungal species composition and fungal biomass in coniferous forest soil polluted by alkaline deposition. Microbial Ecology 25, 83-92
- Fritze H., Järvinen P., Hiukka R. 1994a. Near-infrared characteristics of forest humus are correlated with soil respiration and microbial biomass in burnt soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 18, 80-82.
- Fritze H., Kapanen A., Vanhala P. 1995. Cadmium contamination of wood ash and firetreated coniferous humus: Effect on soil respiration. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 54, 775-782.
- Fritze H., Smolander A., Levula T., Kitunen V., Mälkönen E. 1994b. Wood ash fertilization and fire treatments in Scot pine forest stand: effects on the organic layer, microbial biomass and microbial activity. Biology and Fertility of Soils 17, 57-63.

- Frostegård Å., Bååth E. 1996. The use of phospholipid fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 22, 59-65.
- Frostegård Å., Bååth E., Tunlid A. 1993a. Shifts in the structure of soil microbial communities in limed forest forests as revealed by phospholipid fatty acid analysis. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 25, 723-730.
- Frostegård Å., Tunlid A., Bååth E. 1993b. Phopholipid fatty acid composition, biomass, and activity of microbial communities from two soil types experimentally exposed to different heavy metals. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, 3605-3617.
- Gittins R. 1985. Canonical analysis: A review with applications in ecology. *Biomathematics* vol. 12. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany.
- Graham J.H., Hodge N.C., Morton J.B. 1995. Fatty acid methyl ester profiles for characterization of glomalean fungi and their endomycorrhizae. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 58-64.
- Gyllin M., Kruuse A. 1996. Effekter på floran efter tillförsel av ved- och blandaska. Summary, captions and tables in English: Effects of wood ash on vegetation. Ramprogram askåterföring, R 1996:36, Stockholm, 23 p.
- Hagerberg D. 2003. The growth of external ectomycorrhizal mycelia in the field in relation to host nutrient status and local addition of mineral sources. PhD-thesis. Department of Ecology, Lund University.
- Hagerberg D., Wallander H. 2002. The impact of forest residue removal and wood ash amendment on the growth of the ectomycorrhizal external mycelium. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 39, 139-146.
- Haimi J., Fritze H., Moilanen P. 2000. Responses of soil decomposer animals to wood-ash fertilisation and burning in a coniferous forest stand. Forest Ecology and Management 129, 53-61.
- Hakkila P. 1986. Recycling of wood and bark ash. A state-of-the-art review for programme group C under the IEA forest energy Agreement. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 211, 44 p.
- Hakkila P., Fredriksson T. 1996. Metsämme bioenergian lähteenä. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 613, 92 p. (In Finnish).
- Hakkila P. Kalaja H. 1983. Puu- ja kuorituhkan palauttamisen tekniikka. Summary, captions and tables in English: The technique of recycling wood and bark ash. Folia Forestalia 552, 37 p.
- Hansen H.K., Pedersen A.J., Ottosen L.M., Villumsen A. 2001. Speciation and mobility of cadmium in straw and wood combustion fly ash. Chemosphere 45, 123-128.
- Heneghan L., Bolger T. 1998. Soil microarthropod contribution to forest ecosystem processes: the importance of observational scale. Plant and Soil 205, 113-124.
- Heuer H., Kresek M., Baker P., Smalla K., Wellington E.M.H. 1997. Analysis of actinomycete communities by specific amplification of genes encoding 16S rRNA and gel-electrophoretic separation in denaturing gradients. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 3233-3241.
- Holmberg S., Claesson T. 2001. Mineralogy of granulated wood ash from heating plant in Kalmar, Sweden. Environmental Geology 40, 820-828.
- Holmberg S.L., Claesson T., Abul-Milh M., Steenari B.-M. 2003. Drying of granulated wood ash by flue gas from saw dust and natural gas combustion. Resources, Conservation & Recycling 38, 301-316.
- Holmberg S., Lind B., Claesson T. 2000. Chemical composition and leaching characteristics of granules made of wood ash and dolomite. Environmental Geology 40, 1-10.
- Huhta V., Hyvönen R., Koskenniemi A., Vilkamaa P., Kaasalainen P., Sulander M. 1986. Response of soil fauna to fertilization and manipulation of pH in coniferous forests. Acta Forestalia Fennica 195, 1-30.
- Huhta V., Persson T., Setälä H. 1998. Functional implications of soil fauna diversity in boreal forests. Applied Soil Ecology 10, 277-288.

- Huikari O. 1953. Tutkimuksia ojituksen ja tuhkalannoituksen vaikutuksesta eräiden soiden pieneliöstöön. Summary, captions and tables in English: Studies on the effect of drainage and ash fertilization upon the microbes of some swamps. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 42 (2), 18 p.
- Hytönen J. 2003. Effects of wood, peat and coal ash fertilization on Scots pine foliar nutrient concentrations and growth on afforested former agricultural peat soils. Silva Fennica 37, 219-234.
- Hytönen J., Nurmi J. 1997. Energiapuun ja puutuhkan käyttö ajankohtaista. In: Nurmi J., Hytönen J., Polet K. (Eds.), Energiapuusta puutuhkaksi. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 660, 4-5. (In Finnish).
- Högbom L., Nohrstedt H.-Ö. 2001. The fate of ¹³⁷Cs in coniferous forest following the application of wood ash. The Science of Environment 280, 133-141.
- Insam H. 1997. A new set of substrates proposed for community characterization in environmental samples. In: Insam, H., Rangger, A., (Eds.), Microbial Communities: Functional Versus Structural Approaches Springer, Germany, pp. 259-260.
- Issakainen J., Moilanen M., Silfverberg K. 1994. Turvetuhkan vaikutus männyn kasvuun ja ravinnetilaan ojitetuilla rämeillä. Resume in English: Effects of peat-ash fertilization on drained pine mires. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 499, 24 p.
- Iyer R.S., Scott J.A. 2001. Power station fly ash a review of value-added utilization outside of the construction industry. Resources Conservation & Recycling 31, 217-228.
- Jacobson S. 2001. Fertilization to increase and sustain tree growth in coniferous stands in Sweden. PhD-thesis. The Forestry Institute of Sweden, Uppsala.
- Jacobson S., Gustafsson L. 2001. Effects on ground vegetation of the application of wood ash to a Scots pine stand. Basic and Applied Ecology 2, 233-241.
- Jentschke G., Bonkowski M., Godbold D.L., Scheu S. 1995. Soil protozoa and forest tree growth: non-nutritional effects and interaction with mycorrhizae. Biology and Fertility of Soils 20, 263-269.
- Juntunen M.-L. 1982. Tuhkan levityksen terveydellisten haittojen arviointi. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 62, 17 p. (In Finnish).
- Kahl J., Fernandez I., Rustad L., Peckenham J. 1996. Threshold application rates of wood ash to an acidic forest soil. Journal of Environmental Quality 25, 220-277.
- Karsisto M. 1979. Maanparannustoimenpiteiden vaikutuksista orgaanista ainetta hajottavien mikrobien aktiivisuuteen suometsissä. Osa II. Tuhkalannoituksen vaikutus. Summary, captions and tables in English: Effect of forest improvement measures on activity of organic matter decomposing micro-organisms in forested peatlands. Part II. Effect of ash fertilization. Suo 30, 81-91.
- Kaunisto S. 1987. Lannoituksen ja muokkauksen vaikutus männyn ja rauduskoivun istutustaimien kasvuun suonpohjilla. Summary, captions and tables in English: Effect of fertilization and soil preparation on the development of Scots pine and silver birch plantations on peat cutover areas. Folia Forestalia 681, 23 p.
- Kaunisto S., Paavilainen E. 1988. Nutrient stores in old drainage areas and growth of stands. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 145, 39 p.
- Kellner O., Weibull H. 1998. Effects of wood ash on bryophytes and lichens in a Swedish pine forest. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 76-85.
- Khanna P., Raison R., Falkiner R. 1994. Chemical properties of ash derived from *Eucalyptus* litter and its effects on forest soil. Forest Ecology and Management 66, 107-125.
- Kiikkilä O., Pennanen T., Pietikäinen J., Hurme K-J., Fritze H. 2000. Some observations on the copper tolerance of bacterial communities determined by the (³H)-thymidine incorporation method in heavy metal polluted humus. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 32, 883-885.
- Kottke I., Qian X.M., Pritsch K., Haug I., Oberwinkler F. 1998. *Xerocomus badius Picea abies*, an ectomycorrhiza of high activity and element storage capacity in acidic soil. Mycorrhiza 7, 267-275.

- Kroppenstedt R.M. 1985. Fatty acids and menaquinoine analysis of actinomycetes and related organisms. In: Goodfellow, M., Minnikin, D.E. (Eds.), Chemical methods in bacterial systematics, Academic Press, London, pp. 173-199.
- Larsen J., Olsson P.Å., Jakobsen I. 1998. The use of fatty acid signatures to study mycelial interactions between the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* and the saprotrophic fungus *Fusarium culmorum* in root-free soil. Mycological Research 102, 1491-1496.
- Levula T. 1991. Tuhkalannoitus kangasmaalla. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 394, 49-59. (In Finnish).
- Levula T., Saarsalmi A., Rantavaara A. 2000. Effects of ash fertilization and prescribed burning on macronutrient, heavy metal, sulphur and ¹³⁷Cs concentrations in lingonberries (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea*). Forest Ecology and Management 126, 269-279.
- Liiri M. 2001.Complexity of soil faunal communities in relation to ecosystem functioning in coniferous forest soil - a disturbance oriented study. PhD-thesis. Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä.
- Liiri M., Haimi J., Setälä H. 2002a. Community composition of soil microarthropods of acid forest soil as affected by increase in soil pH due to wood ash application. Pedobiologia 46, 108-124.
- Liiri M., Setälä H., Haimi J., Pennanen T., Fritze H. 2002b. Soil processes are not influenced by the functional complexity of soil decomposer food webs under disturbance. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 34, 1009-1020.
- Lodenius M., Soltanpour-Gargari A., Tulisalo E. 2002. Cadmium in forest mushrooms after application of wood ash. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 68, 211-216.
- Ludwig B., Heil B., Flessa H., Beese F. 2000. Use of ¹³C and ¹⁵N mass spectrometry to study decomposition of *Calamagrostis epigeios* in soil column experiments with and without ash additions. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies 36, 49-61.
- Ludwig B., Rumpf S., Mindrup M., Meiwes K.-J., Khanna P.K. 2002. Effects of lime and wood ash on soil-solution chemistry, soil chemistry and nutritional status of a pine stand in northern Germany. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 17, 225-237.
- Lukkala 1951. Kokemuksia Jaakkoinsuon koeojitusalueelta. Summary, captions and tables in English: Experiences from Jaakkoinsuo experimental drainage area. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 39, 53 p.
- Lundell Y., Johannisson C., Högberg P. 2001. Ion leakage after liming or acidifying fertilization of Swedish forests a study of lysimeters with and without active tree roots. Forest Ecology and Management 147, 151-170.
- Lundkvist H. 1998. Wood ash effects on enchytraeid and earthworm abundance and enchytraeid cadmium content. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 86-95.
- Mahmood S. 2000. Ectomycorrhizal community structure and function in relation to forest residue harvesting and wood ash applications. PhD-thesis. Department of Ecology, Lund University.
- Mahmood S., Finlay R.D., Erland S., Wallander H. 2001. Solubilisation and colonisation of wood ash by ectomycorrhizal fungi isolated from a wood ash fertilised spruce forest. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 35, 151-161.
- Mahmood S., Finlay R.D., Fransson A.-M., Wallander H. 2003. Effects of hardened wood ash on microbial activity, plant growth and nutrient uptake by ectomycorrhizal spruce seedlings. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 43, 121-131.
- Mahmood S., Finlay R.D., Wallander H., Erland S. 2002. Ectomycorrhizal colonisation of roots and ash granules in a spruce forest treated with granulated wood ash. Forest Ecology and Management 160, 65-74.
- Martikainen P.J. 1984. Nitrification in two coniferous forest soils after different fertilization treatments. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 16, 577-582.

- Martikainen P.J. 1985a. Numbers of autotrophic nitrifiers and nitrification in fertilized forest soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 17, 245-248.
- Martikainen P.J. 1985b. Nitrification in forest soil of different pH as affected by urea, ammonium sulphate and potassium sulphate. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 17, 363-367.
- Moilanen M., Issakainen J. 2000. Tuhkalannoituksen metsävaikutukset. Metsätehon raportti 93, 38 p. (In Finnish).
- Moilanen M., Silfverberg K., Hokkanen T. 2002. Effects of wood-ash on the tree growth, vegetation and substrate quality of a drained mire: a case study. Forest Ecology and Management 171, 321-338.
- Møller I.S., Ingerslev M. 2001. The need for and effects of wood-ash application in Danish forests. SkogForsk - The Forestry Research Institute of Sweden Report No. 2, 6-8.
- Narodoslawsky M., Obernberger I. 1996. From waste to raw material the route from biomass to wood ash for cadmium and other heavy metals. Journal of Hazardous Materials 50, 157-168.
- Nieminen M. 2003. Ravinteiden ja raskasmetallien vapautuminen tuhkalannoitteista. Metsätehon raportti 155, 20 p. (In Finnish).
- Nilsson T. 2001. Wood ash application effects on elemental turnover in a cutover peatland and uptake in vegetation. PhD-thesis. Department of Forest Soils, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala.
- Nilsson T., Lundin L. 1996. Effects of drainage and wood ash fertilization on water chemistry at a cutover peatland. Hydrobiologia 335, 3-18.
- Nohrstedt H.-Ö. 2001. Response of coniferous forest ecosystems on mineral soils to nutrient additions: a review of Swedish experiences. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16, 555-573.
- Obernberger I. 1998. Decentralized biomass combustion: state of the art and future development. Biomass & Bioenergy 14, 33-56.
- Obernberger I., Biedermann F., Widmann W., Riedl R. 1997. Concentrations of inorganic elements in biomass fuels and recovery in the different ash fractions. Biomass & Bioenergy 12, 211-224.
- Ohtonen R., Tuohenmaa H. 1999. Tuhkalannoituksen vaikutus männyn ektomykorritsasymbioosiin kangasmaalla. Metsätehon raportti 84, 18 p. (In Finnish).
- Oikarinen M., Pasanen J. 1994. Turpeentuhka kangasmaan lannoituksessa. Folia Forestalia 2/1994, 105-112. (In Finnish).
- Olsson B., Kellner O. 2002. Effects of soil acidification and liming on ground flora establishment after clear-felling of Norway spruce in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 158, 127-139.
- Olsson P.Å., Wallander H. 1998. Interactions between ectomycorrhizal fungi and the bacterial community in soils amended with various primary minerals. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 27, 195-205.
- Olsson P.Å., Bååth E., Jakobsen I., Söderström B. 1995. The use of phospholipid and neutral lipid fatty acids to estimate biomass of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil. Mycological Research 99, 623-629.
- Olsson P.Å., Francis R., Read D.J., Söderström B. 1998. Growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal mycelium in calcareous dune sand and its interaction with other soil microorganisms as estimated by measurement of specific fatty acids. Plant and Soil 201, 9-16.
- Paavolainen L., Smolander A. 1998. Nitrification and denitrification in soil from a clearcut Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) stand. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 30, 775-781.
- Parkman H., Munthe J. 1998. Wood ash and dolomite treatments of catchment areas: effects on mercury in run-off-water. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 33-42.
- Pedersen A.J. 2003. Characterization and electrodialytic treatment of wood combustion fly ash for removal of cadmium. Biomass & Bioenergy 25, 447-458.

- Pedersen A.J., Ottosen L.M., Villumsen A. 2003. Electrodialytic removal of heavy metals from different fly ashes: Influence of heavy metal speciation in the ashes. Journal of Hazardous Materials 100, 65-78.
- Pennanen T., Frostegård Å., Fritze H., Bååth E. 1996. Phospholipid fatty acid composition and heavy metal tolerance of soil microbial communities along two heavy metalpolluted gradients in coniferous forests. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62, 420-428.
- Pennanen T., Liski J., Bååth E., Kitunen V., Uotila J., Westman C.J., Fritze H. 1999. Structure of the microbial communities in coniferous forest soils in relation to site fertility and stand development stage. Microbial Ecology 38, 168-179.
- Pennanen T., Paavolainen L., Hantula J. 2001. Rapid PCR-based method for the direct analysis of fungal communities in complex environmental samples. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33, 697-699.
- Pennanen T., Perkiömäki J., Kiikkilä O., Vanhala P., Neuvonen S., Fritze H. 1998. Prolonged, simulated acid rain and heavy metal deposition: separated and combined effects on forest soil microbial community structure. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 27, 291-300.
- Pietikäinen J., Fritze H. 1995. Clear-cutting and prescribed burning in coniferous forest: comparison of effects on soil fungal and total microbial biomass, respiration activity and nitrification. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 27, 101-109.
- Pihlström M., Rummukainen P., Mäkinen A. 2000. Tuhkalannoitusprojektin kasvillisuusja maaperätutkimukset Evolla 1997-1999. Metsätehon raportti 89, 53 p. (In Finnish).
- Piirainen S. 2001. Ash fertilization and leaching of nutrients from drained peatland. SkogForsk - The Forestry Research Institute of Sweden Report No. 2, 21-24.
- Pingoud K., Lehtilä A. 1997. Role of forest sector and bioenergy in limiting the carbon emissions of Finland. Biomass & Bioenergy 13, 413-420.
- Piri T. 2000. Response of compensatory-fertilized Pinus sylvestris to infection *Heterobasidion annosum*. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 15, 218-224.
- Praharaj T., Powell M.A., Hart B.R., Tripathy S. 2002. Leachability of elements from subbituminous coal fly ash from India. Environment International 27, 609-615.
- Priha O., Smolander A. 1994. Fumigation-extraction and substrate-induced respiration derived microbial biomass C, and respiration rate in limed soil of Scots pine sapling stands. Biology and Fertility of Soils 17, 301-308.
- Priha O., Smolander A. 1999. Nitrogen transformations in soil under *Pinus sylvestris*, *Picea abies* and *Betula pendula* at two forest sites. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 31, 965-977.
- Raison R.J., McGarity J.W. 1980. Effects of ash, heat, and the ash-heat interaction on biological activities in two contrasting soils. Plant and Soil 55, 363-376.
- Raitio H., Tamminen P., Tuovinen J.-P., Anttila P. 2000. Tree nutrient status. In: Mälkönen,
 E. (Ed.), Forest condition in a changing environment- the Finnish case, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 93-102.
- Ramesh A., Koziñski J.A. 2001. Investigations of ash topography/morphology and their relationship with heavy metals leachability. Environmental Pollution 111, 255-262.
- Ravila A., Holm E. 1996. Assessment of the radiation field from radioactive elements in a wood-ash-treated coniferous forest in southwest Sweden. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 32, 135-156.
- Richards B.K., Steenhuis T.S., Peverly J.H., McBride M.B. 2000. Effect of sludgeprocessing mode, soil texture and soil pH on metal mobility in undisturbed soil columns under accelerated loading. Environmental Pollution 109, 327-346.
- Ricou-Hoeffer P., Lecuyer I., Le Cloirec P. 2001. Experimental design methodology applied to adsorption of metallic ions onto fly ash. Water Research 35, 965-976.
- Rikala R., Jozefek H. 1990. Effect of dolomite lime and wood ash on peat substrate and development of tree seedlings. Silva Fennica 24, 323-334.

- Ring E., Lövgren L., Nohrstedt H.O., Jansson G. 1999. Ash fertilization in a clearcut and in a Scots pine stand in Central Sweden – Effects on soil-water and soil chemistry coupled to laboratory leachings of six ash products. SkogForsk - The Forestry Research Institute of Sweden Report No. 2, 51 p.
- Rühling Å. 1996. Upptag av tungmetaller i swamp och bär samt förändring i florans sammansättning efter tillförsel av aska till skogsmark. Summary and tables in English: Effects of wood ash on fungi and vascular plants, and on heavy metal concentrations in berries and edible fungi. Ramprogram askåterföring, R 1996:49, Stockholm, 42 p.
- Rygiewicz P.T., Bledsoe C.S., Zasoski R.J. 1984a. Effects of ectomycorrhizae and solution pH on [¹⁵N]ammonium uptake by coniferous seedlings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14, 885-892.
- Rygiewicz P.T., Bledsoe C.S., Zasoski R.J. 1984b. Effects of ectomycorrhizae and solution pH on [¹⁵N]nitrate uptake by coniferous seedlings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14, 893-899.
- Saarela I. 1991. Wood, bark, peat and coal ashes as liming agents and sources of calcium, magnesium, potassium and phosphorus. Annales Agriculturae Fenniae 30, 375-388.
- Saarsalmi A., Mälkönen E. 2001. Forest fertilization research in Finland: a literature review. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16, 514-535.
- Saarsalmi A., Mälkönen E., Piirainen S. 2001. Effects of wood ash on forest soil chemical properties. Silva Fennica 35, 355-368.
- Saetre P., Bååth E. 2000. Spatial variation and patterns of soil microbial community structure in a mixed spruce-birch stand. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 32, 909-917.
- Saramäki, J., Susila P. 1991. Tuhkalannoitus kivennäismailla. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 383, 82-83. (In Finnish).
- Setälä H. 1995. Growth of birch and pine seedlings in relation to grazing by soil fauna on ectomycorrhizal fungi. Ecology 76, 1844-1851.
- Sikström U. 1992. Stamtillväxt hos tall och gran på fastmark efter behandling med låg kalkgiva, kvävegödsel och vedaska. Summary, captions and tables in English: Stem growth of Scots pine and Norway spruce on mineral soils after treatment with a low lime dose, nitrogen fertilizer and wood ash. Institutet för Skogsförbättring, Rapport 27, 22 p.
- Silfverberg K. 1991. Träaska, PK-gödsel och markförbättringsmedel på dränerade tallmyrar. Abstract, captions and tables in English: Wood ash, PK-fertilizer and two soil ameliorating additives on drained pine mires. Suo 42, 33-44.
- Silfverberg K. 1995. Forest regeneration on nutrient-poor peatlands: effects of fertilization, mounding and sowing. Silva Fennica 29, 205-215.
- Silfverberg K. 1996a. Tuhkalannoitteen laatuvaatimukset. In: Finér L., Leinonen A., Jauhiainen J. (Eds.), Puun ravinteet tuhkana takaisin metsään? Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 599, 9-13. (In Finnish).
- Silfverberg K. 1996b. Nutrient status and development of tree stands and vegetation on ash-fertilized drained peatlands in Finland. PhD-thesis. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research papers 588.
- Silfverberg K., Hotanen J.-P. 1989. Puuntuhkan pitkäaikaisvaikutukset ojitetulla mesotrofisella kalvakkanevalla. Summary, captions and tables in English: Long-term effects of wood-ash on a drained mesotrophic *Sphagnum papillosum* fen in Oulu district. Folia Forestalia 742, 23 p.
- Silfverberg K., Huikari O. 1985. Tuhkalannoitus metsäojitetuilla turvemailla. Abstract, captions and tables in English: Wood-ash fertilization on drained peatlands. Folia Forestalia 633, 25 p.
- Silfverberg K., Issakainen J. 1991. Tuhkalannoituksen vaikutukset metsämarjoihin. Summary, captions and tables in English: Effects of ash fertilization on forest berries. Folia Forestalia 769, 23 p.
- Silvola J., Välijoki J., Aaltonen H. 1985. Effect of draining and fertilization on soil respiration at three ameliorated peatland sites. Acta Forestalia Fennica 191, 32 p.

- Smolander A., Kitunen V., Paavolainen L., Mälkönen E. 1996. Decomposition of Norway spruce and Scots pine needles: Effects of liming. Plant and Soil 179, 1-7.
- Speir T.W., Kettles H.A., Percival H.J., Parshotam A. 1999. Is soil acidification the cause of biochemical responses when soils are amended with heavy metal salts? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31, 1953-1961.
- Stahl P.D., Klug M.J. 1996. Characterization and differentiation of filamentous fungi based on fatty acid composition. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62, 4136-4146.
- Steenari B., Lindqvist O. 1997. Stabilisation of biofuel ashes for recycling to forest soil. Biomass & Bioenergy 13, 39-50.
- Steenari B., Karlsson L., Lindqvist O. 1999. Evaluation of the leaching characteristics of wood ash and the influence of ash agglomeration. Biomass & Bioenergy 16, 119-136.
- Steenari B., Marsic N., Karsson L., Tomsic A., Linsdqvist O. 1998 Long-term leaching of stabilized wood ash. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research Supplement 2, 3-16.
- Tamminen P. 1998. Typpi- ja tuhkalannoitus punalatikan vaivaamassa männikössä. Folia Forestalia 3/1998, 411-420. (In Finnish).
- Tamminen P., Starr M.R., 1990. A survey of forest soil properties related to soil acidification in southern Finland. In: Kauppi P., Anttila P., Kenttämies K., (Eds.), Acidification in Finland. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 234-251.
- Tauriainen S., Karp M., Chang W., Virta M. 1998. Luminescent bacterial sensor for cadmium and lead. Biosensors & Bioelectronics 13, 931-938.
- Tom-Petersen A., Hosbond H., Nybroe O. 2001. Identification of copper-induced genes in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and use of a reporter strain to monitor bioavailable copper in soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 38, 59-67.
- Trevors J.T., Stratton G.W., Gadd G.M. 1986. Cadmium transport, resistance, and toxicity in bacteria, algae, and fungi. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 32, 447-464.
- Tulonen T., Arvola L., Ollila S. 2002. Limnological effects of wood ash application to the subcatchments of boreal humic lakes. Journal of Environmental Quality 31, 946-953.
- Vainio E.J., Hantula J. 2000. Direct analysis of wood-inhabiting fungi using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of amplified ribosomal DNA. Mycological Research 104, 927-936.
- Vuorinen M., Kurkela T. 2000. Lophodermella sulcigena infection in Scots pine needles and tree nutrition. Forestry 73, 239-246.
- Wallander H., Arnebrant K., Dahlberg A. 1999. Relationships between fungal uptake of ammonium, fungal growth and nitrogen availability in ectomycorrhizal *Pinus sylvestris* seedlings. Mycorrhiza 8, 215-223.
- Wallander H., Mahmood S., Hagerberg D., Johansson L., Pallon J. 2003. Elemental composition of ectomycorrhizal mycelia indentified by PCR-RFLP analysis and grown in contact with apatite or wood ash in forest soil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 44, 57-65.
- Wang K.-S., Chiang K.-Y., Tsai C.-C., Sun C.-J., Tsai C.-C., Lin K.-L. 2001. The effects of FeCl₃ on the distribution of heavy metals Cd, Cu, Cr, and Zn in a simulated multimetal incineration system. Environment International 26, 257-263.
- Weber A., Karsisto M., Leppänen R., Sundman V., Skujin] J. 1985. Microbial activities in a histosol: Effect of wood ash and NPK fertilizers. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 17, 291-296.
- Welp G. 1999. Inhibitory effects on the total and water-soluble concentrations of nine different metals on the dehydrogenase activity of a loess soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 30, 132-139.
- Zhan G., Erich M.S., Ohno T. 1996. Release of trace elements from wood ash by nitric acid. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 88, 297-311.
- Zhang F.-S., Yamasaki S.-I., Nanzyo M. 2001. Application of waste ashes to agricultural land effect of incineration temperature on chemical characteristics. The Science of the Total Environment 264, 205-214.

- Young F. E., Smith C., Reilly, B. E. 1969. Chromosomal location of genes regulating resistance to bacteriophage in *Bacillus subtilis*. Journal of Bacteriology 98, 1087-1097.
- Yrjälä K, Katainen R., Jurgens G., Saarela U., Saano A., Romantschuk, Fritze H. 2004. Wood ash fertilization alters the forest humus *Archaea* community. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 36, 199-201.